Walking Cadence: A Novel Strategy to Improve the Proportion of Inactive Older Adults who Reach the Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines

by

Jana Slaght

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of

The University of Manitoba

in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Faculty of Kinesiology and Recreation Management

University of Manitoba

Winnipeg, Manitoba

Copyright © 2015 Jana Slaght

Abstract

Problem: Only 13% of older adults reach the Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines (CPAG) aerobic activity recommendations. Walking cadence (steps per minute) is a strategy proposed to increase walking at the intensity recommended by the CPAG.

Methods: Inactive older adults (N = 51) were instructed to walk 150 minutes per week at no specified intensity during phase 1 (6 weeks). In phase 2 (6 weeks), duration was maintained but the group one (N = 23) received instructions on how to reach moderate intensity, using a pedometer and individualized walking cadence, while group two (N = 22) did not.

Results: During phase 1, MVPA time and MVPA in 10-minute bouts increased ($p \le 0.05$), and in phase 2 group one continued to increase MVPA time and time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts ($p \le 0.01$), while the group two significantly decreased ($p \le 0.01$).

Discussion: Previously inactive older adults can improve time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts, as recommended by the CPAG, by using prescribed walking cadence, a pedometer to track moderate intensity, and practicing walking at this cadence.

Acknowledgements

I first must acknowledge the financial support that has made this study possible. This study could not have taken place without the funding received from the Manitoba Medical Service Foundation (MMSF file #8-2013-06). I would also like to thank the University of Manitoba for the Manitoba Graduate Scholarship and the Manitoba Health Research Council (MHRC) for the MHRC Graduate Studentship Award. Receiving these scholarships throughout my studies has allowed me to devote myself to this thesis.

I want to thank my committee members, Dr. Gordon Giesbrecht and Dr. Dean Kriellaars who have taken time out of their busy schedules to aid in the growth and development of this study. An enormous thank you must be extended to my advisor, Dr. Danielle Bouchard. Not only has she been there to guide me through this process, but she has also been the driving force that has pushed me to accomplish more than I would have thought possible. I can only hope that some of her enthusiasm and passion for the field, dedication to her work and her students, and work ethic, have rubbed off on me over the past two years. I could not have asked for a better advisor, so thank you for all that you have done, I truly appreciate it.

I would also like to thank all of the other people that have helped me through this process. This includes lab mates, friends, family, and my boyfriend, who have all encouraged me, supported me, or empowered me in their own ways. At this time I must also acknowledge the importance that the gym has had in my sanity over the last two years. Never before have I used working out as such an escape and stress relief from my studies. So thank you to my body for allowing me to take out my frustrations and stresses on it, as this may have been the most important aspect in keeping me healthy and sane.

Abbreviations

- ACSM American College of Sports Medicine
- BMI body mass index
- BPM beats per minute
- CEP Certified Exercise Specialist
- CPAG Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines
- CRF cardiorespiratory fitness
- CSEP Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology
- HR heart rate
- HR max maximum heart rate
- HRR heart rate reserve
- MET metabolic equivalent of tasks
- MVPA moderate to vigorous physical activity
- RER respiratory exchange ratio
- RPE rate of perceived exertion
- VO₂-volume of oxygen
- VO₂ max maximum oxygen consumption
- VO₂ peak peak oxygen consumption
- VO₂R volume of oxygen reserve
- WHO World Health Organization

ABSTRACT	II
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	III
ABBREVIATIONS	IV
TABLE OF CONTENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	IX
LIST OF FIGURES	X
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Defining Terms	5
Physical Activity	5
Physically Inactive	
Older Adults	
Certified Exercise Physiologist (CEP)	6
Aerobic Moderate Intensity	6
Oxygen Consumption (VO $_2$)	7
Walking Cadence	8
CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF LITERATURE	9
PREVALENCE OF PHYSICAL INACTIVITY	9
BARRIERS TO PHYSICAL ACTIVITY	
BENEFITS OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY	
CANADIAN PHYSICAL ACTIVITY GUIDELINES FOR OLDER ADULTS	
Mode of Exercise	
ADHERENCE TO PHYSICAL ACTIVITY	

Table of Contents

IMPORTANCE OF MODERATE INTENSITY AND 10-MINUTE BOUTS	
METHODS TO ASSESS EXERCISE INTENSITY	
Subjective Measures	
Objective Measures	
SUMMARY OF THE REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	
CHAPTER 3: METHODS	
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	
OBJECTIVES:	
Primary objectives	
Secondary objectives	
Hypotheses:	
Primary hypotheses	
Secondary hypotheses	
Conceptual Framework	
PARTICIPANTS	
INTERVENTION	
Prescribing moderate intensity	
DATA COLLECTION	
Anthropometric Measures	
Resting Heart Rate and Blood Pressure	
Physical Capacity	
Cardiorespiratory Fitness Level	
MEASURING TIME SPENT AT MODERATE INTENSITY	
Pedometer	
Accelerometer	

vi

POTENTIAL CONFOUNDERS	
Neighborhood Walkability	
Weather	
Education level	
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	54
Рнаѕе 1 (week 1 то week 6)	
Рнаѕе 2 (week 7 то week 12)	
Completers vs. Non-Completers	
Accelerometer data	
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	65
Phase 1	
Phase 2	
Pedometer	
Flexible schedule	
Guidance on how to achieve moderate intensity	
Benefits of individualizing walking cadence prescriptions	
CHANGES IN CLINICAL VARIABLES	
Completers vs. non-completers	
WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO INCREASE MVPA IN 10-MINUTE BOUTS?	
LIMITATIONS	
IMPACT OF RESEARCH	
Conclusion	
REFERENCES	92
Appendix A: Advertisement	

vii

Appendix B: Personal Feedback	111
Appendix C: Phase 1 activity tracker	115
Appendix D: Phase 2 activity tracker (Group two)	120
Appendix E: Phase 2 activity tracker (Group one)	125
Appendix F: Informed Consent	130

List of Tables

TABLE 1. ASSESSING MODERATE INTENSITY	32
TABLE 2. DATA COLLECTION SCHEDULE	42
TABLE 3. MVPA ADJUSTMENTS FOR BASELINE THRESHOLD 4	49
TABLE 4. CHARACTERISTICS FOR COMPLETERS OF THE STUDY (N=42) BASELINE AND WEEK 6	54
TABLE 5. PERTINENT INFORMATION COLLECTED FROM WEEK 6 TO WEEK 12	58
TABLE 6. PROPORTION OF PARTICIPANTS REACHING COMMON CRITERIA FOR VO_2 MAX	59
TABLE 7. ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN CHANGE IN MVPA IN 10-MINUTE BOUTS FROM WEEK TO 12 AND BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS	6 59
TABLE 8. CHARACTERISTICS OF MEDIAN GROUPS FOR CHANGE IN MVPA IN 10-MINUTE BOUTS BETWEEN WEEK 6 AND WEEK 12	60

FIGURE 1. RECRUITMENT TIMELINE	37
FIGURE 2. FLOW DIAGRAM OF PARTICIPANTS	62
FIGURE 3. ACCELEROMETER 10-MINUTE BOUTS IN MVPA (INDIVIDUALIZED CUT POINTS)	64

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Multiple chronic conditions such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, certain cancers, hypertension, and simply overall health are negatively impacted by physical inactivity [1, 2]. The World Health Organization (WHO) recognizes physical inactivity as the fourth leading cause of death [3]. Although many older adults are aware of the health benefits related to physical activity, they still fail to exercise regularly. This statement is supported by the most recent national data, using objective measures of physical activity, which shows that only 13% of older adults are reaching the Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines (CPAG) [4]. The primary goal of the CPAG for older adults is to improve or maintain their physical capacity [5]. Having the physical capacity to safely and independently carry out daily living activities, known as functional fitness, or physical capacity [6], allows individuals to maintain their independence [7], and has a positive impact on healthcare system costs [8]. The CPAG outline the amount of physical activity required to optimize physical capacity, and therefore increasing the likelihood of maintaining functional independence. The most recent recommendation for aerobic activity is to cumulate a minimum of 150 minutes per week of moderate to vigorous intensity aerobic physical activity in bouts of 10 minutes or more [9].

In order to *consciously* achieve the recommendation for aerobic activity, the knowledge of how to identify exercise intensity is required. This seems to be an important problem for many Canadians, including older adults, because they report themselves as being active, but very few are successfully reaching the CPAG [10]. In fact, based on self-reported analysis, 65% of older adults in Canada would reach the CPAG [11, 12] when really only 13% are achieving it when based on an objective measure [4]. In

addition, many older adults overestimate the amount of physical activity they do and are unable to accurately identify exercise intensity [13], potentially leading to the observed difference between self-reported and objectively measured physical activity levels in the literature. Although the CPAG are one of the most popular documents downloaded from the Health Canada website [10], only one older adult out of seven knows the specific recommendations such as time, intensity or mode of exercise recommended [14]. One way to help older adults to consciously reap the benefits of meeting the CPAG is to be made aware of the information, understand how to achieve the recommendations, and increase their ability to identify exercise intensity.

Older adults are a sub-group of the population that need particular attention because they represent the lowest proportion of individuals being regularly active [4]. In addition, this sub-group could benefit enormously from any increase in time spent in moderate to vigorous intensity; not only physiologically, but also socially [15], and psychologically [16-19]. As age increases there are higher occurrences of low cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF), low functional capacity, and increased chronic conditions [20]. These factors impact health care costs because older adults use the health care system more frequently than younger adults [21]. Fortunately, reaching the CPAG by accumulating 150 minutes of moderate intensity aerobic physical activity per week can help reduce the impact of aging. It is also known that it is feasible for older adults to reach moderate to vigorous intensity, as the average time spent at this intensity was about 119 minutes per week for older men, and 84 minutes per week for older women in the last national evaluation of physical activity levels [4]. However, even if the total time spent at moderate to vigorous intensity is reaching a minimum of 79% and 56% of the weekly recommendation for men and women respectively, the challenge seems to be to maintain that intensity for bouts of 10 minutes or more. As mentioned earlier, most older adults, 60–79 years of age, are not reaching the CPAG with only 13.7% of men and 12.6% of women achieving the minimum requirements of 150 minutes of moderate to vigorous intensity aerobic activities in 10-minute bouts per week [4].

Walking cadence is usually measured as the number of steps taken per minute and can be used to identify intensity when walking. Most studies to date have determined that the general public recommendation for walking cadence to reach moderate intensity in adults aged 55 or lower is 100 steps per minute [22-25]. Studies done more recently with older adults show that cadences higher than 100 steps per minute are commonly chosen as a comfortable walking cadence in clinical settings [26-28], suggesting that older adults are able to achieve the cadence necessary to reach moderate intensity or that they need more steps per minute to achieve moderate intensity. Although it has been found that older adults can walk at cadences ≥ 100 steps per minute and achieve moderate intensity [26-28], Tudor-Locke et al. [28] recently reported, based on accelerometer wear for one week, this cadence was only achieved for an average of eight minutes per day, and this was mostly done in bouts shorter than 10 minutes. Since walking is the most common form of exercise for older adults [29], it is imperative to determine how fast they need to walk in order to reach moderate intensity, and identify strategies to teach them how to walk at that cadence and hopefully reach the CPAG in order to gain optimal health and functional benefits.

Currently, we are aware of only two studies that have aimed to increase time spent doing moderate to vigorous intensity while using a pedometer [13, 30]. The study done by Bouchard et al. [13] did not result in significant increases in time in moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA), but did provide positive information about the pedometer being an appropriate tool for older adults. Marshall et al. [30] also used a pedometer as the intervention tool and found that among three groups with different interventions (self-selected pace, 10,000 steps per day, or 100 steps per minute), the group that was prescribed a walking cadence (i.e., 100 steps /minute) had the greatest increase in moderate to vigorous time spent in 10-minute bouts. This study is encouraging in trying to identify a strategy to help older adults know how fast to walk, but also to encourage a duration of at least 10 minutes to have them reach the CPAG and obtain the optimal health and functional benefits. However, the literature is suggesting that cadences greater than 100 steps per minute might be more desirable older adults [26, 27].

The proposed study will implement a 12-week walking intervention where participants will be randomly assigned to group one or group two at week six. Fifty older adults (≥ 65 years) who self-report doing less then 150 minutes of physical activity per week will be recruited for this study. In order to be eligible they had to be willing to use walking as their primary form of exercise, able to walk without assistance, available for the 12 consecutive weeks and able to come to the University of Manitoba for 10 visits during this time. After collecting one week of baseline data for participants with the pedometer and accelerometer, those who were surpassing the CPAG were excluded from the study. The aim for the first six weeks of the study is to have all participants gradually increase the time they spend walking, and during the last six weeks both groups will be directed to continue accumulating this walking time at a moderate to vigorous intensity in bouts of 10 minutes or more, but the intervention group will also be receiving an individualized cadence (steps per minute) to inform them how fast they need to walk in order to reach moderate intensity. All participants will be wearing a pedometer for the entire duration of the study, but at week six participants in group two will have their pedometers locked shut so that they cannot receive any visual feedback, while participants in group one will be shown how the pedometer can help them achieve the appropriate walking cadence as it is able to display time spent at MVPA and the number of 10-minute bouts accumulated in moderate to vigorous intensity each day, based on walking [31].

The information gathered in this study could lead to a novel way to help older adults increase their time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts and their total time in MVPA, helping them to potentially reach the CPAG. The main objectives of this study are to have all participants increase total time in MVPA and 10-minute bouts in MVPA from baseline to week six (phase 1), and most importantly to see an increase in the intervention group in 10-minute bouts of MVPA and total MVPA based on using the pedometer and individualized cadence prescription, from week six to twelve (phase 2). The hypotheses that accompany the main objective are that all participants will see an increase in total MVPA and 10-minute bouts of MVPA from baseline to week six (phase 1), and that group one will see a significant increase in 10-minute bouts of MVPA and total MVPA based on using the pedometer and individualized cadence prescription, from week six to twelve (phase 2), and group two will not.

Defining Terms

Physical Activity

Physical activity is body movement that is produced by the skeletal muscles which causes an increase in energy expenditure [32]. There are many different levels of physical activity but according to the CPAG, in order to be adequately aerobically physically active, adults need to partake in at least 150 minutes of moderate to vigorous intensity aerobic activity in bouts of 10 minutes or longer each week [9, 33]. The purpose of these guidelines is to provide information on the minimum amount of physical activity required in order to gain optimal physical capacity and independence in older adults [33].

Physically Inactive

It is important to distinguish the difference between being physically inactive and being sedentary. Physical inactivity is defined as participating in less then 150 minutes of aerobic MVPA per week, which directly reflects the CPAG [9, 33], while sedentary activity can be defined by activities done in a rested state such as sleeping, sitting, and watching television, and the metabolic equivalent of these tasks (MET) is equal to about 1-1.5 METs [34].

Older Adults

There are different cut-points to determine what is defines an older adult. In Canada, when it comes to physical activity level, older adults are usually classified as being 65 years of age or older, in accordance with the CPAG [9, 33].

Certified Exercise Physiologist (CEP)

A CEP is the highest Canadian certification in the health and fitness industry. A four-year University degree in the field of exercise science is the starting requirement, and once certified these individuals are able to work with a large portion of the population including healthy individuals, and those with medical conditions, functional limitations or disabilities. These specialists are certified through the Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology (CSEP) [35].

Aerobic Moderate Intensity

Moderate intensity is the minimum intensity recommended by many international and

national agencies in order to optimize health and functional benefits when achieving regular aerobic physical activity [9, 33, 36, 37]. The CSEP defines moderate intensity as breathing a bit harder and sweating a little bit [9]. Brisk walking is used as an example for a moderate intensity activity [9]. Exercise intensity can be measured both subjectively (e.g., rate of perceived exertion scale), and objectively (e.g., heart rate). There are many different methods that can be used to evaluate exercise intensity, but according to the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM), the most accurate way to calculate an individual's moderate intensity is by using 40 to 59% of maximal oxygen capacity when considering baseline values, commonly called VO₂ reserve (VO₂R) [38].

Oxygen Consumption (VO₂)

Oxygen consumption is the volume of oxygen a person is able to consume while performing a task. Maximal oxygen consumption (VO₂ max) is the product of cardiac output, which is how much blood the heart pumps in a minute, and arteriovenous oxygen difference, which is the difference in O₂ between arterial and venous blood at exhaustion [39]. Maximal oxygen consumption is an objective way to assess cardiorespiratory endurance and functional aerobic capacity [40] by measuring the rate at which oxygen can be transported during aerobic activity [41]. The most accurate measure of oxygen consumption is done through gas analysis during the completion of a maximal CRF test [40], but it can also be predicted without using gas analysis and relying on equations and a sub-maximal CRF tests [40]. Oxygen consumption can be represented as either an absolute or relative value. Absolute VO₂ is measured in L/min and does not factor in body size, therefore these values cannot be used for comparison among individuals of different body weight [40]. Relative VO₂ is more commonly used as this is measured in mL/min/kg accounting for differences in body weight [40].

Walking Cadence

Walking cadence is defined as the number of steps taken in a fixed period of time (e.g., minute). Walking cadence has been suggested as a method to identify walking intensity, and the recommendation for adults is to reach at least 100 steps per minute in order to achieve moderate intensity [22-25]. In older adults, preliminary research suggests that older adults are capable of reaching a cadence higher than 100 steps per minute which result in them reaching moderate intensity [26-28], however no specified recommendation for older adults exists.

CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Prevalence of physical inactivity

Physical inactivity has become a growing concern in North America [2]. Common methods of transportation and communication, while providing convenience, have contributed to increasing inactivity [42]. Physical inactivity has been recognized as the fourth leading cause of death [3], and according to data from Statistics Canada only about 15% of Canadian adults are meeting the new physical activity guidelines, and that proportion is even lower in older adults [43]. In addition to not meeting the CPAG, almost half of Canadians (47%) cumulate less than 30 minutes of MVPA per week, and the average time that Canadian adults spend in a sedentary state (e.g., sitting) while awake is 9.7 hours per day [4].

Physical inactivity has a negative impact on many different chronic conditions and on overall health [1]. It can lead to an increased risk of heart disease, diabetes, and different types of cancer [3], and it contributes to poor CRF which is linked to mortality [44-48]. Aging is associated with poor balance and less muscle strength, leading to an increased risk for falls [49, 50], therefore reducing the chances of regular physical activity. There is a linear relationship between health status and volume of exercise [51], therefore any increase in physical activity is associated with health improvements [41], but the main focus of the current CPAG are on reaching moderate to vigorous intensity for different reasons. It has been proven that higher intensity activities elicit greater health benefits including greater increases in CRF [52-54] and increases in functional capacity [55]. Although research supports that vigorous or high intensity activity has the greatest effect on increasing CRF [54], this intensity can be intimidating, and it has been shown that moderate intensity activity is better tolerated, especially in older adults or obese population [56]. Moderate intensity is a preferable recommendation as this intensity has a lower chance of injury when compared to higher intensities for older adults [57], and moderate intensity has been identified as the preferred exercise intensity for older adults compared to vigorous intensity [58].

Barriers to physical activity

There are a variety of barriers that people face when it comes to getting or staying active. Having the knowledge of barriers that people face prior to engagement in physical activity is ideal in order to help them overcome these barriers and more successfully adhere to a physically active lifestyle. One barrier that many older adults face is believing that they already get enough physical activity in their daily lives [59] by overestimating the amount of physical activity they do [4]. They also struggle to properly identify exercise intensity [13], which may help explain why only 13% of older adults are reaching the CPAG when objectively measured [4] and why they tend to overestimate their physical activity levels. Another possible reason for the small percentage of older adults reaching the CPAG could be based on the evidence that many are not aware of the CPAG [14]. In 2011 Plotnikoff et al. [14] found that only 27% of Canadians were aware of the CPAG, and only 16% knew the specific recommendations. Without knowledge of the specific recommendations of the CPAG and knowing what types of activity can achieve the intensity required by the CPAG, it is no surprise that so many older Canadians are not achieving the CPAG.

Weather has also been shown as a barrier to being physically active and reaching the optimal intensity. For example, it has been reported that warm temperatures affect walking pace [27] and many studies have found that weather has been reported as a perceived barrier to physical activity [60-63]. Tu et al. [63] found in a population of older women, that non-attendance to group fitness was associated with multiple weather factors including temperatures above 32° Celsius, wind-chill below minus 6° Celsius, overcast skies, and snowfall. In a systematic review by Tucker et al. [64], 73% of the reviewed articles reported weather having a significant impact on physical activity participation.

As summarized by Humpel et al. [65], many studies have shown that access to nearby walking paths or accessible facilities, otherwise known as the walkability of a neighborhood, is associated with the likelihood of being physically active [66-69]. Increased walkability of neighborhoods decreases the use of vehicles for transportation and increases the number of people walking or biking for transportation [70]. The association between a walkable environment is not only associated with walking more for transportation [71], but also with more total physical activity time when compared to suburban neighborhood designs which are designated as being less walkable [72, 73]. This relationship also carries over to health outcomes because many studies have shown that there is an increased chance of being overweight or obese when living in a less walkable neighborhood [71, 74-77].

Lack of self-efficacy, which refers to the perception of being capable of doing a task, is another common barrier, but as Grembowski et al. [78] explains, increased self-efficacy is associated with better health in older adults. Therefore improving self-efficacy could improve the likelihood of being active and have an impact on health status. Based on the socio-cognitive theory, an individual's self-efficacy can influence their behavior based on the four sources; i) mastery experiences, ii) vicarious experiences, iii) verbal persuasion and iv) physiological and affective states [79], therefore it is important to

structure physical activity programs to encompass these factors with the intention to increase self-efficacy and therefore adherence to physical activity and overall health [78, 80].

Benefits of physical activity

Regular physical activity has been proven to provide a wide range of health benefits including being able to prevent and treat many chronic diseases (e.g., cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, cancer, hypertension, depression and osteoporosis) [3, 41]. Reaching the CPAG has been proven as enough activity to optimize health and functional benefits, but even if the guidelines are not being met, any amount of physical activity is better than none as there is not only a positive linear relationship between physical activity level and health status. However, the greatest improvements in health are seen in the initial stages when inactive individuals become active [81, 82]. Although light to moderate intensity activity provides benefits to those just starting out [83], as an individual becomes more fit an increase in exercise intensity may be required in order to provide additional health benefits, and higher intensities are associated with lower mortality rates [84]. Regular aerobic physical activity can provide many benefits including decreasing risks associated with cardiovascular disease (e.g., high blood pressure, obesity, type 2 diabetes) [20, 85-88]. Although increasing maximal oxygen consumption is beneficial, some studies have shown that the decrease in risk factors associated with increasing physical activity levels will take place even if the maximal oxygen consumption level is not increased [85-87]. Regular aerobic activity helps minimize the age related decrease in maximal oxygen consumption that inadvertently occurs with age [89]. It can also help in controlling or maintaining bodyweight, and decreasing the accumulation of adipose tissue [90] which reduces the likelihood of metabolic disorders [57]. This is important because in adults between 30 and 74 years old, body mass index (BMI) and body fat have been associated with an increased risk for all-cause mortality and cardiovascular disease, and unfortunately both bodyweight and fat tend to increase with age [91]. Another factor that can be impacted by regular physical activity is one's lipid profile, which can be a major risk factor for coronary heart disease [92]. Adults can improve their lipid profile by increasing high density lipoprotein-cholesterol levels through incorporating regular physical activity into their lifestyle [86, 93]. Arterial blood pressure increases with age and this increase contributes to a larger risk for many cardiovascular disorders [94]. Research has shown that not only can arterial blood pressure be controlled with regular exercise [95], but that resting blood pressure can also be decreased in individuals with initially high rates through regular aerobic activity [95-97]. Specifically in older adults, physical activity can help to decrease the age related decline in maximal aerobic capacity [89] which is associated with maintaining physical capacity [55], preserve bone mass [20], and improve mobility and balance resulting in increased confidence to exercise [20].

Aside from the physical benefits that physical activity can provide, there are also psychological and social benefits. Both physical activity and social interaction have been shown to slow the decline in functional capacity in an older population [98]. When self-reporting physical activity items such as high physical activity compared to peers, high physical activity compared to one year ago and frequency of walking one mile, they were significantly associated (p < 0.0005) with slower functional decline [98]. As for social factors, seeing friends in the past two weeks, social events in the past two weeks, and church/temple attendance were also associated (p < 0.05) with slower functional decline in these older adults [98]. Studies have shown that mild to moderate depression and

anxiety can be prevented or improved with physical activity [17-19, 99]. Other factors that are impacted by regular physical activity are perceived stress [16], enhanced quality of life [100], improvements in total well-being (e.g., mood, stress levels, ability to cope) [101], decreased depression [16], and life satisfaction when activities were perceived as being enjoyable [102]. McAuley et al. [15] found that regular physical activity was associated with life satisfaction and social support. The same study found that both aerobic and anaerobic activities reduced loneliness [15]. Another social factor that can influence physical activity level is having a supportive spouse, family, or friend as this is associated with higher levels of physical activity [68, 103]. A study concluded that social support influences an individual's self-efficacy which in turn has an impact on physical behavior as adherence to physical activity is higher with increased support and self-efficacy [104].

Studies have shown that both sleep quality and quality of life can be impacted by physical activity. With regards to sleep quality, Edinger et al. [105] explored whether health status (fit or sedentary), in generally healthy older men with no sleep complaints, impacted their sleeping continuity and depth. After monitoring participants sleep for two nights it was found that the aerobically fit men had deeper sleeps, less wake time and more continuous sleeps, compared to the sedentary men [105]. A randomized control trial on sedentary older adults with moderate sleep complaints explored whether sleep quality could be impacted through exercise [106]. After a 16 week intervention that gradually increased exercise intensity to 60 to 75% heart rate reserve (HRR), and promoted aerobic exercise for 30 to 40 minutes four times per week, participants in the group that received the exercise intervention had significant improvements (P < 0.001) in their sleep quality compared to the control group [106].

Quality of life when measured with a questionnaire developed by the World Health Organization encompassed physical and psychological health, along with social relationships and environmental issues [107]. As a whole quality of life addresses physical, mental and social well-being [108], and physical activity has been proven to impact these factors, particularly in older adults [109]. Some of the more specific psychological and social factors that are positively influenced by physical activity are summarized by Fox [110] and include improved mood, more resilience to stress, improved self-esteem, and decreased anxiety. There are many questionnaires that have been developed to measure quality of life, but one that has been validated as a good measure for older adults in the Older People's Quality of Life Questionnaire [111].

Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines for older adults

The CPAG provide recommended guidelines for Canadians on the minimum amount of exercise required in order to optimize health and functional benefits [9]. These guidelines are developed through a systematic review and synthesis of all of the relevant literature to date, and then translated into terms and messages that are accessible for all Canadians [112]. These guidelines have been accessible since 1996, but were most recently revised in 2011 [33]. The process to develop these guidelines is rigorous [112]. The CSEP and Public Health Agency of Canada methodically evaluated the current literature regarding the CPAG and developed five systematic reviews, which were then reviewed independently by an international panel of experts. Once consensus was reached among the panel another document containing the updated recommendations along with rationalization for each one was created [112]. The current recommendation is a minimum of 150 minutes of aerobic physical activity per week at moderate to vigorous

intensity, in bouts of 10 minutes or more, and at least two days per week of resistance training. The primary goal of the CPAG for older adults is to identify the minimum dose of aerobic activity required in order to improve or maintain physical capacity and functional independence [9]. For older adults, in addition to the aerobic exercise and the resistance training recommendations, it is recommended to do exercises to improve flexibility and mobility if needed [9]. Physical capacity is the ability to carry out daily living activities, in turn favoring independence, so it becomes increasingly important to improve this as age increases [7]. Having the physical capacity to be able to accomplish activities of daily living without undue fatigue or struggle is important for older adults in order to maintain their independence as having challenges with these is a factor related to nursing home admission [113, 114]. Emphasis on the older population is important because 15.3% of Canadians are already 65 years or older, and the number of older adults in the coming years is expected to continue growing [115]. In Canada this population is expected to continue growing until 2025 based on the fact that Canada had such a strong baby boomer population in the 1950's and 1960's [21]. This older population in Canada is expected to increase by about 10% over the span of 33 years, which is faster than most other countries, excluding Japan, this increase is expected to take 50 years in the United States of America and even longer in most other countries [21]. Based on this increase, it is hypothesized that the cost of the health care system will increase until 2025 [21]. If simple strategies like becoming regularly active can help to improve older adults health and functional capacity, this may help to minimize the health care system costs that are expected based on older population growth.

Both aerobic and resistance training guidelines are included in the CPAG, but the aerobic guidelines are more specific with information on duration and intensity. The

reason that the aerobic guidelines receive more focus compared to resistance training in the media is because aerobic activity is strongly associated with decreasing all-cause mortality and cardiovascular disease mortality [20, 85-88, 116-118] and it is an accessible form of activity for everyone. Training aerobically also increases aerobic capacity, and it has been proven in men with and without cardiovascular disease, that peak aerobic capacity is the strongest predictor of mortality [55].

The CPAG emphasize activity duration, exercising in bouts of at least ten minutes, and intensity, reaching at least moderate intensity for aerobic activity because these two factors provide optimal functional benefits [81, 119]. These guidelines were updated in 2011, and one of the modifications made was on frequency. The number of days per week someone should be active is no longer emphasized, instead the focus is on accumulating 150 minutes in at least 10-minute bouts throughout the week [9]. The duration of a single bout, frequency and mode of physical activity have become less important as the focus has shifted to the total amount of activity cumulated per week [57, 120]. This flexibility may be beneficial because people have the opportunity to incorporate shorter bouts into daily life instead of setting aside large periods of time for physical activity.

Mode of Exercise

Of all aerobic activities, walking is the preferred activity as 71% of Canadians 12 years of age and older report walking as their most common leisure activity [29]. When reported by older adults, walking remains the most common form of activity [121, 122]. One important fact is that the majority of older adults are able to achieve moderate intensity while walking, which can result in optimizing both physiological and psychological benefits [53, 122-125]. It has been proven that greater health benefits occur with greater

intensity [45, 126, 127], and that most older adults can reach moderate intensity by walking [26-28, 122]. Walking is an ideal aerobic activity as it requires movement of large muscles, elicits cardiorespiratory benefits, can increase functional capacity which leads to increased independence in older adults, and has a low risk for adverse effects [121]. In addition, walking is an inexpensive and accessible form of physical activity [121].

Besides, physiological benefits, walking is associated with the psychological benefits including the prevention and improvement of mild to moderate depression and anxiety, [16-19, 99], decreases in tension and anxiety [128], decreases in perceived stress [16], enhanced quality of life [100], and improvements in total well-being [101]. With walking being the most favored mode of exercise [29, 121, 122], life satisfaction can be expected to increase since it has been proven to increase when activities are perceived as being enjoyable [102]. Social well-being can be positively influenced by both aerobic and anaerobic activity [15], and physical activity interventions can decrease the feeling of loneliness which is a main factor that effects social well-being [15]. Having a supportive social network has been associated with higher levels of physical activity [68, 103], and having a partner to walk with has also been shown to increase the chances of reaching the physical activity guidelines [129].

Adherence to physical activity

Although there is some controversy on whether group based programs or home based programs are more beneficial for adherence, both types of interventions lead to increased physical activity in the short term [130, 131]. However, some studies have shown that long-term adherence to the program was better among the home-based groups programs

[58, 130, 132]. In women 40 years or older, 64% of them preferred to exercise on their own compared to an instructor led group program [133]. Even if some programs start in a group based setting, it has been recognized that the integration into a home-based program is a necessary step in order to develop skills and habits that will be maintained when the intervention is over [130].

Self-efficacy level can also play a role in adherence to physical activity as it has been shown that low self-efficacy leads to decreased attendance in group sessions, but self-efficacy can be increased through individual contact during the intervention [80]. In a walking study done by Lombard et al. [134] there were a variety of groups comparing different levels of contact and structures; high contact/high structure, high contact/low structure, low contact/high structure, low contact/low structure, and control. High contact was classified as being contacted via telephone three times per week, low contact was only once a week, high structure received supportive feedback on the walking completed and plans for future walking including frequency, time and duration, and low structure received a simple check with no specific feedback [134]. An interesting finding from this study was that the two groups that received the high contact portion of the intervention, regardless of high or low structure, saw the greatest effect in participation in walking [134]. This study supports the notion that some contact with participants might lead to a greater adherence to physical activity.

Previously, it has been found that only about 50% that started an exercise program continued with it after three months [135], but as recognized by King et al. [130] when reviewing interventions with older adults, participation rates were about 75%, implying that older adults may be more inclined to adhere to a physical activity intervention, compared with younger adults. Another factor that can influence adherence is the type of

program. For example, two studies that implemented a 12-week high intensity resistance training program had dropout rates of 12% [136] and 18% [137], but two 12-week studies that implemented a walking intervention had only a 5% dropout rate in both studies [30, 138].

Importance of moderate intensity and 10-minute bouts

Even though some activity is better than none [41], studies show that reaching at least moderate intensity while being active is associated with greater health and functional benefits [45, 126, 127]. For example, Schnohr et al. [126] showed that exercise intensity had a greater impact on mortality risk than the total duration of walking, which is most likely due to increases in CRF, which is strongly associated with mortality [45]. Reaching at least moderate intensity is emphasized in the current CPAG, and it is recommended that each activity should be accumulated in bouts of at least 10 minutes for a minimum of 150 minutes per week [9]. The reason that 10-minute bouts are encouraged is because it has been proven that many of the factors that influence cardiovascular fitness can be effectively improved with these shorter bouts as compared to the former longer durations suggested [128, 139-141]. The accumulation of 10-minute bouts has been proven just as effective at influencing risk factors such as CRF [128, 139-141], lipid profiles [128, 139], blood pressure [141], fasting plasma insulin [139] and weight control [140] as the longer durations. Although there is a greater increase in CRF with higher intensities [54], Perri et al. [142] found that adherence to moderate intensity activity was significantly better than adherence to vigorous intensity (p = 0.02), and that increasing the frequency of moderate activity did not decrease adherence, but an increase in intensity resulted in a decrease in adherence, therefore leading to less total physical activity. The CPAG provide the opportunity to find ways to incorporate short bouts of exercise into daily living, instead of having to set aside a prolonged period for exercise, potentially making the guidelines more achievable.

Methods to assess exercise intensity

Exercise intensity can be measured in a variety of different ways, but the measure is either subjective (e.g., rate of perceived exertion) or objective (e.g., heart rate monitor). Objective measures are favorable because they are not influenced by personal bias or assumptions, but they are often accompanied by a subjective measure that provides another layer of information. The benefit to objective measures is they are based on reliable and valid measures, they can detect small changes, and norms are usually available [143]. Objective measures use instruments to measure outcomes, and are expressed with numbers [144]. However, limitations to objective measures include high costs associated with the equipment needed, increased time, possibility of being limited to small groups, and increased resources to take the measures [144]. Represented below are some of the most common methods used to assess exercise intensity. These methods include a couple of subjective measures, but predominantly different objective measures and some of the advantages and disadvantages associated with them.

Subjective Measures

Talk Test

This test provides a subjective measure of exercise intensity while walking. The talk test is measured by the ability to carry on a conversation while exercising and when an increase in breathing is noticed, it indicates moderate intensity has been reached [145]. Even if this measure is subjective, it was validated in the past against heart rate (HR) and

VO₂ [145-147].

Borg Scale

The Rate of Perceived Exertion (RPE) scale, otherwise known as the Borg Scale, categorizes different intensities into a numeric scale (6 to 20 or 0 to 10), the higher the number the more intense the activity is perceived as being [148]. This scale also incorporates some key words that correlate with the numeric values in order to help people understand the scale. For example, moderate intensity can be identified as a value of 12 to 13 and the corresponding definition of this intensity is somewhat hard [149].

Objective Measures

Metabolic Equivalent of Tasks (MET)

METs are a commonly used measurement for exercise intensity [22-25, 150-152], this method estimates the energy cost required to perform different activities [153]. It is assumed that one MET is the amount of oxygen consumed at rest, which is by convention is $3.5 \text{ mL O}_2/\text{kg/min}$ [153]. If an activity were reported as requiring 3 METs, the default oxygen consumption would be 10.5 mL O₂/kg/min ($3.5 \text{ mL O}_2/\text{kg/min} \times 3 \text{ METs} = 10.5 \text{ mL O}_2/\text{kg/min}$). The common measure of METs for achieving moderate intensity is between 3 and 6 METs, leaving anything over 6 METs as vigorous intensity [38]. The use of METs as a general public message is useful, but when using it for an individual reference for exercise intensity no consideration is given to individual differences in fitness level or age. Since these vary from person to person, even if two people are achieving 3 METs they might be working out at two different percentages of their maximal aerobic capacity, and this would be even more prominent in young adults where the range of fitness levels varies more than in older adults.

Heart Rate Monitors

HR provides an objective and a practical measure of exercise intensity [51]. HR monitors usually consist of a chest strap and a watch that displays the current HR in beats per minute (bpm). Different intensities or goals can be achieved by prescribing different HR zones. First, a measure or estimation of either HR max or HRR must be done, and then HR can be prescribed based on different percentages of these. In order to reach moderate intensity either 64 to 76% of HR max or 40 to 60% of HRR is recommended [38]. Even though HR monitors can provide an accurate and valid measure of exercise intensity [154], they are sometimes impractical, especially for older adults because of cost and operational difficulties [13]. In addition, using HR as a prescription for intensity becomes more challenging and less accurate when older adults are taking medications that affect their HR, such as beta-blockers which cause the HR to be lower [155], or when it is taken into consideration that factors such as emotional stress can impact HR [156].

Oxygen Consumption

Maximum oxygen consumption can be measured through a maximal CRF test [40], but predictions can also be made using a sub-maximal CRF test [40]. When equations based on performing a sub-maximal test, such as the ACSM equation, are used to estimate VO_2 max in older adults, it can lead to an overestimation of aerobic capacity and this results in prescribing an intensity that may be too high [157]. If the equipment and qualified personnel are available it is preferable to do a maximal CRF test as it is considered to be the most valid measure of CRF [40]. Criteria used determine whether a person has reached their physiological maximum include, but is not limited to; i) reaching a plateau in oxygen consumption, this means that even when the workload is increased the consumption of oxygen does not increase by more than 150 ml/min [40], ii) failure of the HR to increase as the workload increases [40], iii) venous lactate concentration exceeding 8 mmol/L [40], iv) respiratory exchange ratio (RER) \geq 1.15 [40], v) RPE > 17 when using the Borg scale (6 to 20) [40]. The two most common criteria for determining if VO_2 max has been reached are criteria 1 and 4; when these criteria are not met, the highest value achieved during the test is referred to as a VO_2 peak [40]. Although reaching a maximum is ideal, obtaining a peak is more common for older adults and sedentary individuals [40], and the peak value, when attained from a maximal effort CRF test, has been proven as a valid index of maximal aerobic capacity [158] and thus preferable to a submaximal test as submaximal testing can present large variation and when an accurate assessment of VO₂ max is required, this method is not recommended [159]. The maximum value in VO_2 max expressed in ml/kg/minute can be used to determine VO_2R , which is the difference between maximal oxygen consumption and oxygen consumption at rest [40]. When oxygen consumption at rest is not measured, 3.5 ml/kg/min is used by default [22]. With this information moderate exercise intensity can be prescribed based on 40 to 60% of VO_2R [38, 51], which translates to the same proportion of HRR.

Pedometers

Pedometers are a great tool as they are simple to use, inexpensive, and provide instant visual feedback on either the total amount of steps, or more recently, the steps per minute, which is easy to understand [160]. Using pedometers to increase physical activity time has been proven as an effective method to increase physical activity levels, but long-term behavior change requires more than just the pedometer alone, as greater improvements are seen when education and goals are included in the intervention [30, 161, 162].

Previously, pedometers have only been able to quantify total steps per day, creating a reliance on setting step goals (e.g., 10,000 steps per day), and although step goals are a good starting point they are unable to address exercise intensity. It has been reported that having the goal of walking at least 10,000 steps per day could increase physical activity, but this was not necessarily associated with health benefits [123]. This prescription was based on reaching the guidelines at the time, which were to accumulate 30 minutes of moderate intensity activity on most days of the week. It was believed that walking 10,000 steps was equivalent to doing 30 minutes of aerobic exercise per day [163], considering that most people do about 6000 steps per day in their daily living activities [164-166]. Unfortunately reaching 10,000 steps per day may not be the best measure of physical activity as no minimal intensity is associated with this prescription, and bout length is left unaddressed [167]. There is also no guarantee that if 10,000 steps are achieved that the physical activity guidelines will be successfully reached [161, 168, 169]. Although Le-Masurier [168] found that participants who were walking more than 10,000 steps per day were spending more time in moderate intensity compared to the group not reaching 10,000 steps (62.1 ± 27.7 minutes vs. 38.8 ± 18.9 ; p < 0.05), only 51% of participants that walked more than 10,000 steps met the CPAG in terms of aerobic activity. Another argument regarding whether reaching a step count is a good measure of physical activity level can be found in a systematic review by Tudor-Locke [170] which emphasizes the issue with prescribing 10,000 steps as a universal goal because there is variation among age groups and health status'. The main issue with a generalized step count prescription is that it does not provide the same effect for all individuals, it may be too high or too low [161], and the way that this recommendation has been advertised to the public has neglected to include intensity and bout length requirements which are critical components

in order to reach the physical activity guidelines [168]. Walking cadence still relies on step count, but places the emphasis on the speed of the steps, therefore influencing the intensity.

Recently, pedometers that can track time at different intensities have been developed based on walking cadence, allowing a better chance to reach the CPAG. The Steps Count – Step Rx is a new pedometer that has recently been released [31]. This pedometer is able to record not only steps, but also time spent at a moderate to vigorous intensity [31] based on steps per minute. It has a walking cadence sensor to determine if one's walking at the threshold for moderate to vigorous intensity; 100 steps per minute by default. However, that threshold can be manually adjusted with five steps per minute intervals. It is preferable to individualize walking cadence because different factors can influence walking cadence, at least in adults aged 55 years old or younger, such as age [26, 27], height [24], leg length [24, 152], and stride length [24]. While using the Steps Count – Step Rx pedometer, individuals can see how many minutes of walking were completed at moderate intensity based on their individual walking cadence or the cadence set by default.

Walking Cadence

In 2005, Tudor Locke et al. [25] were the first to explore if walking cadence could be used to prescribe moderate intensity in apparently healthy adults. Since then the general public message has been to reach at least 100 steps per minute in order to achieve moderate intensity [22-25]. All these studies to date have used 3 METs as the threshold for moderate intensity to be achieved, and have identified the cadence associated with this [22-25, 30]. Although 100 steps per minute is known as the standard walking cadence to
reach moderate intensity, there are some studies that support a more individualized approach to prescribing walking cadence for adults. For example, Rowe et al. [24] found that height can impact walking cadence by more than 20 steps per minute, and other measures such as stride length and leg length can also affect walking cadence [24, 152]. Although some factors have evidence to support individualization, one factor that does not seem to be individualized when prescribing walking cadence is resting metabolic rate [22]. Most of the studies done to determine walking cadence have been on a young, relatively healthy population [22-25, 152], and current public health recommendations may need to be modified for older adults [26] because there are unique factors that affect their walking cadence such as shorter steps [171] and slower walking speed [172].

Recently a few studies have investigated walking cadence in older adults and have found that older adults are capable of walking at a cadence more than 100 steps per minute [26-28] and their preferred pace is often higher than this threshold [26, 27]. In 2010, Taylor et al. [27] conducted a study on free-living walking pace in ten older adults aged 54 ± 8 years. There were two components to this study, a 150 meter timed trial at three speeds; i) slower than normal, ii) normal, iii) faster than normal, and a one kilometer pre-measured outdoor walk tracked by a global positioning system (GPS) where participants were asked to walk at their normal pace. To determine if participants were reaching moderate intensity, speed was measured, if they were walking at a speed between 1.34 and 1.79 meters/second they were classified as reaching moderate intensity as this corresponds with reaching 3–6 METs [173]. All participants achieved a speed of 1.34 meters/second while walking at their normal pace for the 150-meter trail, and the mean speed during the one-kilometer GPS walk was 1.52 ± 0.2 meters/second. Another study supports the notion that older adults are capable of walking at cadences ≥ 100 steps per minute, and self-select this speed in a clinical environment [26]. This study recruited 29 healthy older women aged 71 ± 12 years and had them walk on a treadmill at three self-selected speeds; i) slow, ii) medium, iii) fast, while HR, oxygen consumption, RPE, and stride rate where recorded. The results of this study show that energy expenditure exceeded 3 METs at all self-selected speeds, and the mean stride rates associated with the self-selected speeds were; slow: 111 ± 12 steps per minute, medium: 118 ± 11 steps per minute, fast: 124 ± 12 steps per minute [26].

Tudor-Locke et al. [28] found older participants could walk at a pace \geq 100 steps per minute, but it was also determined from a week of accelerometer and pedometer data that the likelihood of this walking cadence occurring during daily living was quite rare. The normal walking cadence chosen at testing for men was 104 \pm 9 steps per minute, and they spent an average of 7.59 \pm 8.01 minutes per day at a speed greater than or equal to this. Women chose a normal walking cadence of 111 \pm 9 steps per minute, spending only 1.44 \pm 1.96 minutes per day at this speed [28]. It is clear that more research needs to be done with this population in order to determine an accurate and achievable walking cadence goal. Developing an appropriate strategy to help older adults understand the necessary walking cadence and duration needed in order to reach a moderate to vigorous intensity is also important, and some studies have started to explore interventions targeting this.

Recently, two studies have carried out physical activity interventions with an outcome of increased time in MVPA [13, 30]. Bouchard et al. [13] evaluated whether different intensity monitoring devices would impact older adults time spent in MVPA and their ability to accurately identify moderate intensity. The different methods used to

evaluate moderate intensity were, 40% HRR using manual pulse, 40% HRR using a HR monitor, or 100 steps per minute using total steps from the pedometer. Although no significant increases in time in MVPA were shown in this study, the two groups that used monitoring tools, not the manual pulse group, showed improvements in total activity time and increased daily step counts when compared to baseline. In this study the pedometer group had more success accurately identifying moderate intensity at the end of the intervention as compared to all other groups, suggesting that further research with this tool and walking cadence is needed [13]. Marshall et al. [30] also explored the effect of a walking intervention but used only pedometer based step goals to increase time in MVPA. In this study three groups with different daily step goals were compared; i) selfselected steps goal (control), ii) 10,000 steps, iii) 3000 steps in 30 minutes. Results showed that participants in both intervention groups spent significantly more time in MVPA compared to the control group, but only the walking cadence prescription group (3000 steps in 30 minutes) significantly increased time in MVPA in bouts of at least 10 minutes [30]. Accumulating MVPA time in 10-minute bouts is outlined in North American physical activity guidelines [9, 99] because accumulating activity in bouts of at least 10 minutes results in similar improvements in fitness as exercising at the same intensity for longer durations, as long as the total accumulated time is the same [47]. Both of these studies [13, 30], and an upcoming study by Tudor-Locke et al. [174], assign a walking cadence of 100 steps per minute in order to reach moderate intensity, but to determine their cadence participants have to track total steps and time spent walking, and then perform the calculation to determine walking cadence. There are now pedometers capable of tracking MVPA time using walking cadence as a threshold, making data collection more objective and less tedious for participants [31]. Another limitation to some of these studies is that walking cadence prescriptions were made with the pedometer, but outcome measures of MVPA time were based on accelerometer data [30, 174], and limited research has been done to compare pedometer and accelerometer intensities.

Accelerometers

Accelerometers are non-invasive, lightweight, portable devices that provide an objective assessment of physical activity, but they do not provide any instant feedback [175]. By measuring tri-axial accelerations caused by movements of the body, accelerometers are able to eliminate some bias that is associated with self-reported measures [176], and pedometers that only measure ambulatory activities. The values are represented as counts, and time as epochs, and these measures allow for interpretation of physical activity levels [177]. Currently, no standardized method has been developed to quantify accelerometer data, therefore the thresholds used to determine time spent in sedentary, light, moderate, and vigorous intensities can greatly impact the results, and with little consistency in thresholds used, comparison of results is challenging [178, 179]. Loprinzi et al. [179] showed that the threshold used can greatly influence estimates of time spent at different physical activity intensities, and therefore present controversial data on whether physical activity guidelines are being met (i.e., 4.5% to 99%). In addition, very few cut-off have been developed specifically with older adults [175, 180].

Although all accelerometer models report counts per minute, it is an arbitrary measure because making direct comparison between devices is practically impossible. In Canada, the Actical (Biolynx, Montreal) accelerometers have been popularized since the Canadian Health Measures Survey has validated and used it [4, 177]. Based on the

literature that has used these accelerometers, three different cut points have been used with older adults [175, 177]. Hooker et al. [175] looked at MVPA thresholds to use with an older population and determined that in a population ≥ 65 years of age, 431 counts per minute was an accurate cut point, and 1065 counts per minute for a population ≥ 45 years of age. The third cut point is based on data from ages 9 to 59 years, but when classified as looking at ≥ 18 years, a MVPA threshold of 1535 counts per minute was determined [177]. This cut point has also been used on a population ≥ 65 years [4]. For accelerometer data to be considered valid the minimum number of valid days is at least four days [4]. A valid day requires a minimum of 10 hours of wear time [4] where non-wearing time is considered as any consecutive 60 minutes with no movement [4].

Summary of the review of the literature

It is obvious that a great deal of research has been done to show the importance of physical activity for health and functional capacity in older adults. However, where the literature lacks is in interventions that test strategies to increase the ability to identify moderate intensity to not only increase physical activity levels, but also physical activity at a moderate to vigorous intensity to optimize health benefits. Marshall et al. [30] and Bouchard et al. [13] have started to explore the possibility of this but have some limitations in their study designs. To name a few, one was done on middle-aged women with very low socio-economic status [30] and the other study only included contact with the research staff on one occasion [13]. The majority of the research on walking cadence has used an absolute measure of intensity to evaluate the walking cadence necessary to reach moderate intensity (e.g., 3 METs), which has been translated into 100 steps per minute, but this method may also have room for improvement in order to individualize

walking cadence. The work that has been done on walking cadence in an older population suggests that they are capable of reaching moderate intensity through walking, but that it is not common during daily living [28]. Expanding the knowledge on walking cadence by using a pedometer that provides instant visual feedback about the exercise intensity represents an opportunity that could help increase the amount of time spent at moderate to vigorous intensity in 10-minute bouts, and consequently help individuals reach the aerobic component of the CPAG.

Tal	ble	1. A	Assessi	ing I	Mod	lerate	e In	tensit	ty
-----	-----	-------------	---------	-------	-----	--------	------	--------	----

Method	Moderate Intensity		
MET	3 to 6 [38]		
Heart Rate	64 to 76% HR max [38] 40 to 60% HRR [38]		
Oxygen Consumption	46 to 64% VO ₂ max [38] 40 to 60% VO ₂ R [38]		
Pedometers	100 steps/minute [22, 23, 25]		
Actical Accelerometer (counts per minute)	\geq 1535 (18 to 59 years) [177] \geq 1065 (45 to 84 years) [175] \geq 431 (\geq 65 years) [175]		
RPE (scale from 6-20)	12 or 13 [148]		

MET: Metabolic Equivalent of Tasks, ACSM: American College of Sports Medicine, RPE: Rate of Perceived Exertion, HRR: Heart Rate Reserve, VO₂max: Maximum Oxygen Consumption, VO₂R: Volume of Oxygen Reserve

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

Research methodology

This study used a randomized balance design, as all participants experienced the same intervention during the first phase (6 weeks) of the study and then they were randomly allocated to comparison groups one and two after that time period. The goal for the phase 1 was to walk a minimum of 150 minutes at no specific intensity. For phase 2, all participants aimed to walk at least 150 minutes per week, with the instruction of doing this in 10-minute bouts at moderate to vigorous intensity. This is all the information that group two received, but group one also received an individualized walking cadence prescription using a pedometer that provided instant visual feedback about whether their walking cadence was achieving moderate to vigorous intensity in 10-minute bouts.

Objectives:

Primary objectives

- To study if only encouragement to be more active, in order to reach the CPAG in terms of aerobic exercise, significantly increased total time in MVPA and 10minute bouts in MVPA in six weeks (phase 1).
- 2. To study if using a pedometer and an individualized cadence prescription to reach MVPA (≥ 150 minutes/week) while walking for six weeks (phase 2: week 7 to week 12) increased total time in MVPA and 10-minute bouts in MVPA, once adjusted for confounders, compared with a group that did not receiving any specification on how to identify walking intensity.

Secondary objectives

- 1. Determine if there was a difference in baseline characteristics between the completers and non-completers in the study.
- 2. Evaluate if there was a significant change in clinical variables such as VO₂ peak, prescribed cadence, BMI, and physical capacity between week six and twelve.
- 3. See what covariates are most strongly associated with change in total MVPA time and MVPA in 10-minute bouts between weeks six and twelve.
- 4. Compare the results from the pedometer and the accelerometer from baseline to week twelve.

Hypotheses:

Primary hypotheses

- 1. Participants will significantly increase total MVPA time, but not time spent in 10minute bouts of MVPA from baseline to week six (phase 1).
- Compared with group two, group one will significantly increase total time in MVPA and time spent in 10-minute bouts of MVPA using a pedometer and an individualized cadence prescription to reach MVPA, from week six to twelve (phase 2).

Secondary hypotheses

- 1. There will be no significant differences in baseline characteristics of completers and non-completers.
- 2. Group one will see significant changes in their clinical variables such as VO_2 peak, prescribed cadence, BMI, and physical capacity between weeks six and twelve compared to group two.

- 3. Some baseline characteristics will be significantly associated with change in 10minute bouts MVPA from week six to twelve.
- 4. No significant difference will be measured between MVPA time or MVPA time spent in 10-minute bouts between the pedometer and accelerometer from baseline to week twelve when using the individualized cut points for the accelerometer.

Conceptual Framework

Adherence is a key factor to observe any expected outcomes in an intervention. Using a framework such as the self-efficacy theory may help increase adherence to the intervention [181, 182]. People's belief in their ability to engage in particular tasks necessary to create an outcome is referred to as self-efficacy [79]. This theory is based on the idea that an individual's self-efficacy is a key determinant of behavior, and it has practical application in preventing disease and promoting health in older adults [78]. Bandura [79], identifies four sources of self-efficacy; i) mastery experiences, ii) vicarious experiences, iii) verbal persuasion and iv) physiological and affective states. One goal of this intervention is to positively impact these sources, which should increase self-efficacy, and therefore encourage adherence to physical activity and the intervention.

Mastery experience is knowing that you can achieve something [79]. This was addressed through the intervention by gradually increasing walking duration, and after six weeks of adjusting to increased physical activity, only then was the focus turned to increasing intensity. This two-phase intervention aimed to be less intimidating and more achievable for participants. They also had one on one time spent walking with research staff in the first and second phase, which allowed research staff the opportunity to encourage participants and acknowledge the improvements that had been made. For the

entire 12-week intervention, participants were asked to self-report their physical activity in an activity tracker, this provided the opportunity for them to reflect on total activity time completed compared to the CPAG, and to see the previous activity they have completed which could aid in keeping them motivated. The second source of self-efficacy theory is vicarious experience, this is when someone sees another person, similar to themselves, succeed at the task, the individual can draw confidence from this and can feel more inclined to do the task as well [79]. In this study participants are all in the same age category and starting from an inactive state (self-report < 150 minutes of physical activity per week), so seeing similar people stick with the intervention may have encouraged others to do the same. Verbal persuasion is simply sharing the message that the task they are being asked to do is feasible [79]. In order to administer this, research staff were positive and encouraging to the participants during their testing, walking appointments, and during any contact throughout the intervention. It was important to listen to the participants and help them address barriers they were facing in order to encourage adherence to the intervention. The final source of self-efficacy is physiological/affective states [79]. Since participants started from an inactive state, it is understandable that the changes the body goes through during MVPA may be overwhelming and potentially misunderstood. It was important to explain to participants what it feels like to exercise at this intensity, and what some of the normal physiological symptoms will be, such as an increase in body temperature, sweating, and an increase in breathing. Broadening their knowledge on this topic helped to decrease their anxiety about the exercise, had them gain a better understanding of what to expect and how to manage it, and made them less likely to take these physical symptoms as a sign that they cannot do the level of physical activity they are being asked to do.

Participants

Fifty men and women 65 years and older were recruited through newspaper advertisement (i.e., Lifestyle 55, Winnipeg Free Press, Senior Scope) and the Centre on Aging contact list. The Centre on Aging contact includes people who have agreed to be contacted for future studies at the University of Manitoba. In order to gain access to this list a copy of the study proposal and ethics approval had to be sent to the Centre on Aging. At this time the Centre on Aging determined that the list could be used to aid in recruitment. The list contained 57 names, out of which 52 were eligible. The inclusion criteria for this study were: i) Health screening to do physical activity based on the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PARQ+) [35], ii) Willingness and capacity to increase their walking level to a minimum of 150 minutes per week, iii) Available for a period of twelve consecutive weeks, iv) Accept walking as the primary mode of aerobic exercise during the intervention, v) Currently inactive (< 150 minutes of self-reported physical activity per week confirmed with the use of an accelerometer for seven days before starting the intervention). The exclusion criteria were: i) Previous participation in training on exercise intensity using a HR monitor (e.g., cardiac rehabilitation program), ii) Using a walking aid. Potential participants either contacted us by email or phone after seeing our advertisement (Appendix A), or were contacted by research staff from their information on the Centre on Aging contact list. Figure 1 outlines the timeline used to recruit participants.





Intervention

The intervention consisted of a twelve week walking program divided into two six-week phases. The first phase (6 weeks) was identical for all participants. The goal was to progressively walk at least 150 minutes per week with no indication for walking intensity. During this phase all participants were asked to wear a pedometer (Steps Count – StepRx, Ontario, Canada) at all times, aside from when they were sleeping or showering. For phase 1 participants were able to look at the pedometer if they wanted to as it was left unlocked. The pedometer was set on the screen that shows total steps accumulated each day, but no information regarding the pedometer was given other than asking them to wear it. After phase 1, participants were randomly assigned to group one (N=23) who received the intensity intervention, or group two (N=22) who did not receive the intensity intervention. Randomization was based on total MVPA time at baseline from accelerometer data. Time spent in 10-minute bouts was not criteria for randomization because many participants had 0 minute spent at moderate to vigorous intensity at baseline. Prior to the week six testing visit participants were they were randomized with a 2:2 allocation into one of the two groups. For example if four participants had a total MVPA time of 55, 70, 75 and 95 minutes at baseline during the week of evaluation, the participants with the lowest two values would be randomly assigned to either the control or intervention, and the same would be done for the participants with the highest two values. The goal of phase 2 (6 weeks) in group one was to walk 150 minutes per week, reaching at least moderate intensity, in bouts of at least 10 minutes, using the pedometer indicating the walking cadence needed to reach such intensity. Every time a participate was doing one bout of at least 10 minute at the minimum required intensity, a star was showing on the pedometer display. The intensity was individually determined upon completion of the CRF test at the end of phase 1. Participants maximal aerobic capacity achieved was used to determine moderate intensity based on 40% of VO₂R [38]. The goal of phase 2 (6 weeks) in group 2 was also to walk 150 minutes per week, in 10-minute bouts, at their perceived moderate intensity. However, they had no information regarding the appropriate cadence to do so. Participants in group two were asked to continue to wear their pedometer in order to quantify their walking times, but the pedometer was locked shut, so this group did not receive any visual feedback during phase 2, but the pedometer was set using the individualized cadence just like the intervention group.

All participants attended a total of 10 visits to the University of Manitoba's Fort Garry campus. During weeks 0, 6, and 12, the visits were for measurements. The additional visits (three walking sessions for the first week of each phase) were to complete their walking on-site to ensure participants understood the task and had the opportunity to ask the research staff questions. The final visit was to have a final walk with the research staff to talk about future plans for continuing their walking behavior. At this time participant in group two were also given their individualized walking cadence and shown how to use the pedometer to reach moderate intensity in the future. Finally, participants received personal feedback (Appendix B) regarding their testing throughout the study within two weeks of completing their final visit. In addition, a summary of the study findings will be sent to them once all data has been analyzed and interpreted.

During visits 2 to 4 and visits 6 to 8, participants were asked to walk with one of our research staff, either outside or on the flat indoor tracks at the University of Manitoba, in order to answer any questions and help participants understand the task. One of the first three visits was completed on a treadmill for familiarization so that participants felt more comfortable and confident at the week six visit when they performed the CRF test on the treadmill. During the twelve weeks of the study, all participants were asked to selfreport the time they spend walking (Appendix C, D, E). Participants in group one were asked to record their time in MVPA each day along with the total number of 10-minute bouts accumulated (Appendix E). For visits 6 to 8, all participants were wearing their pedometers with their individualized cadence, but for group two the pedometers were locked shut. Participants in group one were shown how to reach moderate intensity based on their prescribed walking cadence. During these walks, the pedometer was checked after ten minutes of consecutive walking to ensure that the walking cadence was fast enough.

Prescribing moderate intensity

After the completion of the maximal CRF test participants completed a walking test, on a flat surface to determine their individualized walking cadence at 40% of their VO₂R, which is the minimum prescription required to reach moderate intensity according to the ACSM when individualizing the prescription [38]. The first step was to calculate their 40% VO₂R based on their maximal CRF test result, and the standard resting metabolic rate of 3.5 ml /kg/min [153]. For example if the maximal aerobic capacity was 25 ml/kg/min the calculation for 40% VO₂R was [(25 ml/kg/min – 3.5 ml/kg/min) x 0.4] + 3.5 ml/kg/min = 12.1 ml/kg/min. The second step was to identify the walking cadence needed to reach 40% VO₂R. Participants data (weight, height, and age) was entered into the validated portable metabolic cart (K4b² Cosmed, Chicago, USA) [183] which was calibrated before each visit. To determine the individualized prescription of walking cadence at moderate intensity, participants wore a mask attached to the portable metabolic cart. They were also asked to wear a watch and foot pod (Garmin FR60, Rome,

Italy) in order to gather walking cadence simultaneously with gas analysis. Participants walked on level terrain at a self-selected speed, the research staff asked them to adjust their speed accordingly in order to reach 40% VO₂R. Once the intensity had been reached, the research staff had participants maintain this speed for two minutes and recorded the cadence from the foot pod, displayed on a watch. The cadence reached at moderate intensity, based on 40% of VO₂R, was identified as the individual walking cadence to reach moderate intensity. This individualized cadence is what was used to set the pedometers to the appropriate moderate intensity for each participant. Because the pedometer can only be set in increments of five steps per minute intervals, participants' cadence was rounded to the nearest value. For example if the individualized cadence was 100 to 102 steps per minute it was set at 100 steps per minute, and if the cadence was 103 to 105 steps per minute it was set at 105 steps.

Data collection

Before acquiring any information, the parameters of the study were explained and then the informed consent (Appendix F) was signed after making sure that the participant understood the content. Next, the PAR-Q+ [35] form that was filled out via phone was confirmed and signed. If participants had either a resting blood pressure > 144/94mmHg or a resting HR > 99 bpm they were sent to their physician to get clearance before being able to participate in the study. Throughout the duration of the 12-week intervention a variety of tests took place. Table 2 outlines all of the measures that were taken and it also displays a summary of the visits participants had at the University of Manitoba.

	PHASE 1 (weeks 1-6)			PHASE 2 (weeks 7-12)		
Visits	1 Baseline testing	2 to 4 Walk at U of M	5 Midpoint testing	6 to 8 Walk at U of M	9 Final testing	10 Final
Physical activity level (pedometer & accelerometer)	X		X		X	
Consent form	X					
NEWS score	X					
Anthropometric measures	X		X		X	
Leg length	X					
Stride length	X					
Normal walking cadence	X				X	
Moderate intensity identification	X				X	
CRF test			X		X	
Individualized cadence			X		X	
Physical capacity	X		X		X	

Table 2. Data Collection Schedule

NEWS: Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale, CRF: Cardiorespiratory Fitness, U of M; University of Manitoba

Anthropometric Measures

These measures were taken in accordance to the CSEP protocols, as they are the Canadian reference [35]. Height was measured using a stadiometer. Participants were asked to stand tall with their feet together, arms by their side, and looking straight forward. The measurement was recorded during inhalation as recommended [35]. Body weight was measured using a digital scale (OMRON HBF-5186, Illinois, USA). Participants were asked to wear light clothing with no footwear when measuring weight. To measure waist circumference participants were asked to remove clothing at the abdominal area, stand with feet shoulder width apart, and place the arms across the chest. This measurement was taken twice at the superior edge of the iliac crest at the end of a natural expiration; measurements were rounded to the nearest 0.5 cm, as recommended [35]. If the difference between the two readings was more than 0.5 cm, a third reading was taken and the mean of the two closest readings was used. Leg length was measured as outlined by Hoyle et al. [184]. Participants were asked to lie on their back with their feet hip width apart. Measurements were taken from the anterior superior iliac spine to the medial malleolus, on the left side. This measurement was taken two times for accuracy and the mean of the two measurements was used.

Resting Heart Rate and Blood Pressure

Resting HR and blood pressure were measured using an automatic blood pressure cuff (OMRON HEM-432C, Illinois, USA). The CSEP protocol was followed [35]. Participants sat in a chair, with back support, for five minutes prior to taking the first reading. The cuff was wrapped around the upper portion of the left arm and lined up with

the brachial artery. After the first reading, five minutes rest were given, and then a second reading was taken [35].

Physical Capacity

The Senior Fitness Tests (SFT) was used to measure participants' physical capacity. This protocol consists of many validated [185] tests, which assess agility, flexibility, endurance and strength [6]. Six of the SFT were used along with an additional test to assess balance from the CSEP protocol [9]. The balance test (unipedal stance test) was added because a decreased ability to stand on one limb, with the eyes opened or closed, is associated with increased age [186], and the ability to balance on one limb for ≥ 30 seconds decreases the risk of falling in an older population [187].

8 foot up and go

Participants started seated in a chair with their feet planted on the ground. Without using their hands to push them out of the chair they stood and walk as quickly as they could around a pylon positioned eight feet away from them and then returned to a seated position. This test assesses agility and dynamic balance and time to complete the task was recorded in seconds.

30 second chair stand

Starting in a seated position with feet on the ground, participants were asked to stand and sit as many times as they could on a chair without arm rests in 30 seconds with their arms across their chest. This test assesses lower body strength, and the number of completed repetitions was recorded.

Arm curl

This test was done from a seated position and begins with the arm fully extended towards to ground. Participants had 30 seconds to complete as many bicep curls as they could, men used an eight pound weight while women used a five pound weight. This tests upper body strength, and the number of completed repetitions in 30 seconds was recorded.

6 minute walk

This test had participants try to cover as much distance as they could during six minutes. They walked on a 20-meter course, and at the end of six minutes they were asked to stop so that the final measurement could be taken. This test aims to assess aerobic endurance.

Chair sit and reach

Sitting near the edge of the seat participants were asked to extend one leg and reach with both hands towards the toes, without bending their knee. The measurement was taken from the end of the fingers to the tip of the toe in centimeters. If the toes were not reached, the score was a negative value, and if the toes were passed it was a positive value. This assesses lower body flexibility.

Back scratch

From a standing position one hand reaches over the shoulder while the other reaches up the middle of the back, trying to move the middle fingers towards each other. The distance between the middle fingers was recorded as a negative value, or if there was overlap, it was a positive value. This assesses upper body flexibility.

Unipedal stance test (eyes opened and eyes closed)

This test was done a total of four times. The first two times were done with the eyes open, and the last two with the eyes closed. Participants stood on one foot with their arms across their chest and tried to hold their balance for up to 45 seconds. If the participant lost balance their time was stopped. For participants safety they were positioned close to a wall on one side, and had the back of a chair in front of them, creating the opportunity to grab something to prevent them from falling if they lost their balance.

Scoring of physical capacity

Instead of presenting all tests individually, we decided to combine all of them together using norms for each participant [6]. If the participants score was equal to or greater than the norm for their gender and age category they were given a value of one, if they did not meet the norm their value was zero. There were eight different physical capacity tests, and the final score was the sum of all the values whether the norm was met or not. The total score can range from zero to eight, and the higher the score is the best their physical capacity is, as this indicates that they reached the norms for more of the tests.

Cardiorespiratory Fitness Level

CRF level was measured at week six and week twelve visits through the completion of a CRF test by walking on a treadmill. This test was not performed at baseline. Intensity was not addressed in the first phase of the intervention, so there was no need to prescribe intensity based on CRF level. The aim of the test was to identify the peak aerobic capacity of each participant in order to individualize a moderate intensity exercise prescription by using 40% of VO₂R [38]. A maximal CRF test was used in order to elicit maximal exertion from participants, knowing based on the literature [40, 188], that only a proportion of participants would reach maximal capacity based on the traditional criteria [40]. Participants were contacted the week prior to their week six testing visit (visit #5) to remind them of their appointment, and also to inform them of the pre-testing procedure

for the CRF test. They were asked to wear comfortable clothing and athletic footwear, avoid alcohol, caffeine, and food three hours before the test, and avoid strenuous activity the day of the test [38]. Resting HR and blood pressure were measured before the test to ensure that blood pressure was not too elevated for exercise, two readings were taken, with a five-minute break in between [35]. If blood pressure remained too high, > 144/94 mm Hg, or the resting HR was > 99 bpm, the CEP determined whether the CRF test was safe to perform [189], if the CEP did not consent for the individual to complete the test, the participant was referred to their physician for clearance.

The modified Bruce protocol was used for the CRF tests [40]. Although the modified Bruce protocol is suitable for older individuals [40], because we had a wide variety in participants health status, this protocol was too easy for some which would have led to a very long duration for the test. In accordance with the ACSM guidelines [38], the maximal CRF test should run between eight and twelve minutes in order to increase the odds of exerting a maximal effort. As a result, the modified Bruce protocol was individually adjusted for participants with the judgement of the CEP. All participants started at 1.7 miles per hour (mph) at a 0% grade for a two minute warm up. After, participants had either the speed or the grade increase every two minutes until they quit or reached maximal exertion. During the test the HR, walking cadence, and RPE on a scale from 6 to 20 [148] were recorded every minute. The test was stopped when participants felt they could not do any more or for safety reasons (e.g., systolic or diastolic blood pressure too high). The testing procedure used for each individual at the week six test was replicated at the week twelve test. As recommended, after each CRF test, blood pressure and resting HR were measured to ensure that they returned to pre-testing values [40]. We also calculated what the estimated VO₂ max for participants in this study would have

been using a two-point estimation based on heart rate and VO_2 peak. This calculation allowed us to see if there were significant differences between the two methods and what the corresponding prescribed cadences would have been.

Measuring time spent at moderate intensity

Physical activity level was collected and evaluated with the pedometer data, which was also the main intervention tool. Data from the pedometers was collected for the first seven days (evaluation week), the 14 days prior to the week six visit, and the final 14 days of the intervention. The participants also wore an accelerometer during the evaluation week, and the last seven days of the intervention. This data was used as supplementary data to see if it aligns with the pedometer data.

Pedometer

Based on walking cadence data, the pedometer reports on many variables, but only total time spent in moderate to vigorous intensity and the total amount of time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts was kept for analysis.

The Step Rx pedometer (Steps Count – StepRx, Ontario, Canada) was used in this study. It collects and stores data for either the past 14 days, or the past 33 days, depending on the model. In our study we used the past 14 days for all participants. Cadence to reach moderate and vigorous intensity can be manually set in increments of five steps per minute (e.g., 95, 100, 105), which allowed us to individualize walking cadence according to the CRF result. At baseline, because individual cadence was not established, all pedometers were set at 100 steps per minute for moderate, and 120 steps per minute for vigorous, in accordance with current literature with adults and the apparatus default setting [25]. At week six, all pedometers were set to their individualized

moderate intensity cadence based on 40% VO₂R, and vigorous intensity was set 20% higher than the determined moderate cadence. This allowed participants in the intervention group to receive instant visual feedback on if they were walking at the correct cadence to reach moderate intensity. The pedometer shows the number of 10minute bouts done at MVPA by displaying stars. The pedometers count a 10-minute bout when the cadence for moderate intensity has been achieved for eight out of the ten continuous minutes; therefore to calculate time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts we multiplied the total number of bouts by nine minutes. Since the moderate and vigorous thresholds were not individualized at baseline, baseline data had to be adjusted to reflect an appropriate cadence for each individual in order to compare the data from phase 1. To do this, equations (Table 3) were used. At baseline, the pedometers were set at 100 steps per minute for moderate intensity and 120 steps per minute for vigorous intensity. Once the individual cadence was determined at week six, we were able to adjust the baseline pedometer information. For example, if one participant had an individualized walking cadence set at 115 steps per minute for moderate intensity, the number of minutes spent at MVPA for baseline was moderate intensity time X.25 + time spent at vigorous intensity.

Adjustment for Time at Baseline	Cadence equivalent to 40% of VO ₂ R
(Moderate x 1.5) + Vigorous	90
(Moderate x 1.25) + Vigorous	95
Moderate + Vigorous	100
(Moderate x 0.75) + Vigorous	105
(Moderate x 0.5) + Vigorous	110
(Moderate x 0.25) + Vigorous	115
Vigorous	\geq 120

 Table 3. MVPA Adjustments for Baseline Threshold

VO₂R: Volume of Oxygen Reserve

Accelerometer

The accelerometer was not the main tool used to measure exercise time and intensity for this study, but in order to validate the findings measured with the pedometer and compared our results to the literature, we added this measurement. The Actical accelerometer (Phillips – Respironics, Oregon, USA) was used in this study, and it provides extensive information. However, for the purpose of the study we kept the valid days, total time spent in MVPA and total time spent in MVPA in 10-minute bouts or more.

Participants were asked to wear the accelerometer for seven days during the evaluation week, and another seven days at the end of the study during. This data was used to assess whether the changes in total MVPA and time in MVPA in bouts ≥ 10 minutes from baseline to endpoint correlates with the pedometer data. Based on the literature the specific cut points to determine moderate to vigorous intensity in older adults is not clear for the Actical accelerometer as it vary from 431 counts per minute [175] to 1535 counts per minute [177]. We decided to use our own individualized cut point based on 40% VO₂R for data analysis.

The way this was done was by identifying the valid days worn for the accelerometer, only accelerometers worn for at least ten hours per day, with non-wear time considered as any consecutive 60 minutes with no movement, were considered valid [4]. Only the valid days from the Actical were used to compare with the pedometer data. From the pedometer data we measured the total number of minutes spent in MVPA based on their individualized threshold at 40% VO₂R. Based on this information, the raw accelerometer data was analyzed to see what activity count was associated with the same number of minutes in MVPA as the pedometer information. For example, if the participant had 20

minutes of time in MVPA based on the pedometer data, when analyzing the accelerometer data it was organized from highest to lowest activity counts, and then 20 minutes was counted, and the activity count at the last minute in MVPA was used as the cut point for reaching moderate intensity. In order to get the most accurate measure possible, all valid days of accelerometer wear were matched with the pedometer time and then the average cut point for all the valid days was used for each participant. With these individualized cut points the analysis was done separately for each participant, each time modifying the cut-point in order to determine the time they spent in MVPA based on the accelerometer. The median cut-point for MVPA based on the individualized cadence was 1679 (1040-2940) counts per minute.

Potential confounders

Data regarding neighborhood walkability and weather (i.e., temperature, humidity, humidex, and precipitation), and baseline characteristics (i.e., age, sex, education level, MVPA, BMI, and physical capacity) were considered as potential confounders to compare the two groups, during phase 2, on the change in time spent in 10-minute bouts of MVPA. Besides neighborhood walkability, weather, and education level, the method to measure the variables is presented above.

Neighborhood Walkability

Participants neighborhood walkability was evaluated with the Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale [190]. This questionnaire measured nine different topics regarding the participants neighborhood; types of residences, stores and facilities, access to services, types of streets, neighborhood surroundings, safety from traffic, safety from crime, and neighborhood satisfaction. All questions were asked on a Likert scale from 1

to 5, and the total score for this questionnaire was calculated. A high score means a greater walkability in the neighborhood. The score range from 82 to 905.

Weather

Data regarding weather during the entire intervention was collected daily to determine if there was a significant difference between the control and intervention groups with regards to weather conditions, and if a difference was detected, if it had an impact on MVPA time in 10-minute bouts. The weather information collected was temperature, humidity, precipitation, and humidex values. High and low temperatures and humidity values, along with daily precipitation were recorded from the Winnipeg Weather website [191], and humidex values were calculated based on the Environment Canada humidex chart [192]. This data was analyzed separately for phase 1 and phase 2 of the intervention. Mean temperature, humidity, and humidex were calculated and total precipitation was recorded for each of the two phases for every participant.

Education level

At baseline, all participants were asked their highest level of education. This data was coded based on whether participants did or did not have a college or university education. Those who did not have this level of education were coded with a zero value, and those who did have college or university education received a value of one.

Statistical Analysis

The first statistical analysis that was performed was a normality test to determine if the data was normally distributed. Based on a small sample size of 50, the Shapiro-Wilk test was used [193]. The variable 'time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts' was not normally distributed, and it was not possible to normalize it. Therefore non-parametric tests were

used. The Chi-Square (e.g., sex) or the Mann-Whitney (e.g., BMI) tests were used to determine the differences between characteristics of two groups and the Wilcoxon tests were used to test the change within the same group (baseline vs. week six or week seven vs. week twelve). Spearman's correlations were done to verify what baseline descriptive variables were significantly associated with the change in MVPA time completed in 10-minute bouts from week seven to week twelve.

Linear regression could not be used because the main outcome (change in MVPA time completed in 10-minute bouts from week seven to week twelve), and the residuals were not normally distributed. In order to determine the variables that were most associated with a change in time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts, a logistic regression model was used. A bivariate variable used as a dependent variable was created based on the 'median of change' (change equal to or greater than median = 1; changed less than median = 0). The median percent change was a reduction of 17% in time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts.

The Mann-Whitney or Chi-square tests were used to compare the characteristics of the participants in each group, once these two groups had been computed.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

Phase 1 (week 1 to week 6)

Table 4 shows the main characteristics of participants at baseline, and differences in these variables from baseline to week six (Phase 1). The median age was 70 years old, the majority of participants were women, highly educated, and mostly overweight. The baseline information also indicates fairly low neighborhood walkability among participants, and how little time was spent in MVPA in 10-minute bouts at baseline. The only measured variables that increased significantly over this period of time were time spent in MVPA in 10-minute bouts (p = 0.01) and the total time in MVPA (p = 0.03).

Characteristic (unit or range)	Baseline	Week 6	
Age (years)	70 (66-77)		
Sex (male)	12 (29)		
Education (\geq university level)	26 (62)		
NEWS score (82-905)	233 (198-477)		
MVPA in 10-min bouts (minutes)	10 (0-32)	19 (8-53)**	
Total MVPA (minutes)	100 ± 61	117 ± 64*	
Total steps (daily)	6471 ± 2698	6791 ± 2810	
BMI (kg/m ²)	28 ± 4	28 ± 4	
Physical Capacity (0-8)	4 ± 2	5 (4-6)	

Table 4. Characteristics for Completers of the Study (N=42) Baseline and Week 6

Data represented in mean \pm SD, median (25th-75th percentile) or N (%)

* ($p \le 0.05$) between baseline and week 6

** $(p \le 0.01)$

NEWS: Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale, BMI: Body Mass Index, MVPA: Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity

Phase 2 (week 7 to week 12)

Table 5 shows the data of interest from week seven to week twelve by groups. Some of the additional measurements that were taken during this time include VO_2 peak, as well as an individualized prescribed walking cadence based on 40% VO₂R. Besides a significant difference at baseline for the proportion of people per group having a university degree (greater in the intervention group; p = 0.04) no significant difference between the two groups was observed for any tested variables. However, between week seven and week twelve, group one significantly increased their time in MVPA in 10minute bouts, as well as their total time in MVPA, whereas group two significantly decreased their time in both of these measures. By the end of the intervention, group one had an average of 88 (52 - 143) minutes of time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts, and 10 of the 42 participants were achieving \geq 100 minutes of MVPA in 10-minute bouts and nine of these participants were in group one. We also observed a significant increase in group one, during phase 2, in VO_2 peak (p = 0.02). Significant differences in the changes from week seven to week twelve when comparing the two groups were seen in MVPA in 10minute bouts, total MVPA, prescribed walking cadence, and VO₂ peak ($p \le 0.05$). Another significant difference was seen in the total steps for group two ($p \le 0.05$), and this also resulted in a significant difference in percent change between the two groups (p = 0.03). Four different weather related measurements were collected, and significant differences were seen in these variables during phase 2, as the seasons started to change, but no significant differences were seen when comparing these changes between the two groups.

CRF was assessed at week six, and these tests resulted in predominantly VO_2 peak results from the maximal CRF tests, as depicted below in Table 6. Only 26% of the participants reached a VO₂ max based on an oxygen consumption plateau of less than 150 ml/minute when workload was increased [40], and/or reaching a respiratory quotient of at least 1.15 [40]. Although this maximal CRF test resulted in the majority of participants reaching a VO₂ peak and not a VO₂ max, when VO₂ max was estimated using a two-point estimation based on heart rate and VO₂ peak, 41 out the 42 participants were reaching \geq 75% of their estimated VO₂ max, and 79% were reaching \geq 90% of their estimated VO₂ max.

To understand what baseline characteristics were associated with change in MVPA in 10-minute bouts between six and twelve weeks, correlations were performed with continuous variables collected at baseline and VO_2 peak measured at week six (Table 7). The analysis shows that the total physical capacity score at baseline and VO_2 peak at week six were associated with the dependent variable.

In order to determine if using a pedometer and an individualized cadence prescription to reach moderate to vigorous intensity (\geq 150 minutes/week) while walking for six weeks (phase 2: week 7 to week 12) was increasing total time in MVPA and 10-minute bouts in MVPA, once adjusted for confounders, compared with group two who did not receive any specification of how to identify walking intensity, logistic regression was used. The median percent change for MVPA in 10-minute bouts between week six and week twelve was used to create two groups, those who were below the median (0), and those who reached or surpassed the median (1). The median percent change was a reduction of 17%. Using the forward conditional method, the potential confounders variables were included in the analysis including group of intervention, age, sex, baseline education level, baseline MVPA, baseline BMI, and baseline physical capacity score. Only the group (Odds ratio = 0.16; p = 0.001), and the physical capacity score at baseline

(Odds ratio = 2.47; p = 0.02) remained in the final model. The result revealed that being in the intervention group increased the odds of reaching or surpassing the median change for time spent at MVPA in 10-minute bouts by 84%.

Characteristic (unit or range)	Control	(N = 22)	Intervention $(N = 20)$		
	Week 6	Week 12	Week 6	Week 12	
MVPA in 10 min bouts (min)	17 (6-41)	9 (0-23)**	31 (11-55)	88 (52-143)** †	
Total MVPA (min)	106 ± 59	$88\pm71*$	129 ± 67	203 ± 91**†	
Total steps (daily)	7234 ± 2414	$6358\pm2154*$	6305 ± 3182	6714 ± 3199†	
Prescribed cadence (steps/min)	116 ± 12	113 ± 12*	112 ± 9	113 ± 10†	
BMI (kg/m^2)	28 ± 4	28 ± 5	28 ± 4	27 ± 3	
Physical capacity (0-8)	5 (5-6)	5 (4-6)	5 (3-6)	5 (3-6)	
VO2 peak (kg/ml/min)	26 ± 7	26 ± 6	22 ± 4	$24 \pm 4*$ †	
Temperature (Celsius)	16 (13-19)	8 (5-11)**	17 (15-19)	8 (7-13)**	
Humidity (%)	73 (70-77)	67 (67-70)**	74 (70-78)	71 (70-75)	
Humidex	24 ± 10	2 (2-5)**	23 ± 10	2 (2-12)**	
Precipitation (mm)	3 (1-4)	0 (0-1)**	3 (1-4)	0 (0-1)**	

 Table 5. Pertinent Information Collected from Week 6 to Week 12

Data represented in mean \pm SD or median (25th-75th percentile)

* $(p \le 0.05)$ between week 6 and week 12

** $(p \le 0.01)$

† ($p \le 0.05$) between % change between the groups

MVPA: Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity, VO₂ peak: Peak Oxygen Consumption, BMI: Body Mass Index, min: Minute

	N = 42
Plateau (<150ml/min increase with increased work)	11 (26)
RER (\geq 1.15)	16 (38)
Borg Scale (> 17 RPE)	20 (48)
Predicted HR max (220-age)	25 (60)

Table 6. Proportion of Participants Reaching Common Criteria for VO₂ max

Data represented in N (%)

RER: Respiratory Exchange Ratio, RPE: Rate of Perceived Exertion, HR: Heart Rate

Table 7. Associations Between Change in MVPA in 10-minute Bouts from week 6 to12 and Baseline Characteristics

-0.03
0.18
0.13
0.01
-0.54**
-0.48**
0.07
0.18
-0.23

** $(p \le 0.01)$ between week 6 and week 12

 $\dagger VO_2$ peak was measured at week 6

BMI: Body Mass Index, NEWS: Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale, VO₂ peak: Peak Oxygen Consumption, MVPA: Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity

	Below median (N=20)	Above median (N=21)
Age (years)	72 (69-77)	69 (66-76)
Sex (male)	7 (35)	5 (24)
Group (group one)	3 (15)	17 (81)**
Education (≥ university level)	10 (50)	16 (76)
NEWS score (182-905)	219 (199-488)	232 (192-428)
BMI (kg/m ²)	27 ± 4	28 ± 4
Physical capacity (0-8)	6 (4-6)	4 (2-5)**
VO2 peak (ml/kg/min) †	27 ± 6	21 ± 4 **
10 min bouts MVPA (minutes)	10 (2-21)	16 (0-67)
Total MVPA (minutes)	94 ± 69	114 ± 68
Total steps (daily)	6994 ± 2567	6063 ± 2846

Table 8. Characteristics of Median Groups for Change in MVPA in 10-minute BoutsBetween Week 6 and Week 12

Data represented in mean \pm SD or median (25th-75th percentile)

* significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) between groups

** significant difference ($p \le 0.01$)

[†] VO₂ peak was measured at week 6

NEWS: Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale, BMI: Body Mass Index, VO₂ peak: Peak Oxygen Consumption, MVPA: Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity

Table 8 shows the characteristics and differences between the two groups based on median change in time spent at MVPA in 10-mintue bouts. The group changing their proportion of time spent at MVPA in 10-mintue bouts equal or above the median has significantly more participants from the group one ($p \le 0.01$), this group also had a lower score on the physical capacity tests, at baseline, compared to the below median group ($p \le$ 0.01). Lastly, the participants in the same group had a significantly lower VO₂ peak at week six ($p \le 0.01$).

Completers vs. Non-Completers

A total of 63 older adults contacted us to potentially take part in the study. Fifty-one participants attended the first visit. Figure 2 depicts when participants withdrew from the study and the reason for doing so. As presented in Figure 2, 42 participants completed the study, 20 in group one, and 22 in group two. With the exception of a greater number of median (25-75th percentile) minutes of MVPA in 10-minute bouts at baseline, 10 minutes (0-32) vs. 0 minutes (0-27); (p = 0.05) for participants who completed the study (n = 42), no other significant difference was observed when compared to participants who did not complete the study (n = 9).


Accelerometer data

The pedometer was the main tool used to implement the intervention and was used to measure the main outcome, but accelerometer data was also collected for seven days at baseline and week twelve to compliment the pedometer information. Figure 3 shows the difference between the groups at baseline and week twelve, regarding the total amount of MVPA in 10-minute bouts completed over seven consecutive days. Similarly to what was observed for the pedometer, at baseline there was no significant difference, but by week twelve group one accumulated significantly more MVPA in 10-minute, compared to group two ($p \le 0.01$).

Because the pedometer used in the study was not validated previously, correlation between the pedometer and accelerometer was evaluated. When comparing the time spent in MVPA and MVPA in 10-minute bouts there was a significant correlation for both total MVPA (r = 0.65, p < 0.01) and time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts (r = 0.73, p < 0.01). A comparison between the pedometer data and a validated cut point for the accelerometer data to identify MVPA in 10-minute bouts was also performed [177] even though this cut point was not validated in an older population. The correlation showed that although total MVPA was not significantly correlated, the time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts was (r =0.60; p < 0.01).

Figure 3. Accelerometer 10-minute Bouts in MVPA (individualized cut points)



Data represented in median (25^{th} - 75^{th} percentile) * (p ≤ 0.05) from baseline to week 12

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

The primary objectives of this study were: i) study if only encouragements to be more active (no specific indication of how to measure intensity) in order to reach the CPAG in terms of aerobic exercise, by walking a minimum of 150 minutes at moderate to vigorous intensity will increase significantly have all participants increase total time in MVPA and 10-minute bouts in MVPA from baseline to week six (phase 1); ii) To study if using a pedometer and an individualized cadence prescription to reach MVPA (>150 minutes/week) while walking for six weeks (phase 2: week 7 to week 12) will increase total time in MVPA and 10-minute bouts in MVPA, once adjusted for confounders, compared with group two who did not receive any specification of how to identify walking intensity. The results of this study show that, in the short term, it is possible to increase physical activity levels at moderate to vigorous intensity by simply encouraging older inactive adults to walk more. The hypothesis that all participants would see an increase in total MVPA but not in 10-minute bouts of MVPA during this stage was proven wrong as both of these variables did have a significant increase. However, after six weeks, the results of this study suggest that an intervention is needed to keep increasing time walking at moderate to vigorous intensity in order to eventually reach the CPAG. In our case, the intervention was to provide a pedometer that would display walking intensity based on walking cadence.

Four secondary objectives were targeted in this study. First, we wanted to determine if there was a difference in baseline characteristics between the completers and non-completers in the study. Our results show that the only significant difference at baseline was MVPA in 10-minute bouts (p = 0.05). Second, we wanted to evaluate if

there was a significant change in clinical variables such as VO₂ peak, prescribed cadence, BMI, and physical capacity between weeks six and twelve. Our findings were that BMI and physical capacity had no significant change in either group from week six to twelve, but VO₂ peak significantly increased in group one ($p \le 0.05$), and prescribed cadence significantly decreased group two ($p \le 0.05$). Third, we wanted to study what covariates were most strongly associated with change 10-minute bouts between weeks six and twelve, resulting in significant correlations in both VO₂ peak at week six and physical capacity at baseline. Finally, we wanted to validate the physical activity levels recorded from the pedometer by recording the accelerometer from baseline to week twelve, and the results show similar findings in terms of significant changes.

Phase 1

The goal of the first phase was to have participants gradually increase their activity time, at no particular intensity. This was the aim in order to ease participants into activity as they were starting from an inactive state to eventually focus on the intensity. Although the intervention required no designated intensity at this time, time in MVPA was still measured, as this was the main outcome throughout the entire study because reaching at least moderate intensity is associated with greater health and functional benefits [45, 126, 127], and higher intensities are associated with lower mortality rates [84]. This gradual increase in activity is supported by other studies that have found this approach to be less overwhelming for older adults [13, 194]. During this first portion of each phase, participants had a lot of contact with the research staff as this has been shown to lead to greater adherence and adoption of physical activity [134, 195].

At baseline participants were not randomized into groups yet, as this took place at week six, but analysis was run to determine if there were any significant differences at baseline between the two groups. There were not many differences between the two groups, therefore factors such as age, NEWS score, and BMI did not play a significant role in this intervention. This may be due to the fact that the participants in this study were fairly homogeneous with regards to these variables. The age range was only between 65 and 87 years old, the similar NEWS scores indicate that the participants may live in similar types of neighborhoods and therefore have little variation in their walkability scores, and BMI in this study was normally distributed with an average score of $28 \pm 4 \text{ kg/m}^2$ at baseline, which means that most of the participants in this study were classified as being overweight based on their BMI [196]. If there were a wider age variation it is likely that age may have had a more significant influence, as physical activity levels tend to decrease as age increases [20, 197].

During phase 1, participants were asked to gradually work up to walking 150 minutes per week. At baseline the median (25-75th) amount of walking done at moderate to vigorous intensity in 10-minute bouts was only 10 (0-32) minutes per week, and the average total time at this intensity was 100 ± 61 minutes per week. By the end of phase 1, MVPA time spent in 10-minute bouts almost doubled, reaching 19 (8-53) minutes per week, and total MVPA increased by 17% to 117 ± 64 minutes per week. Both of these improvements were considered statistically significant. Other studies have completed similar interventions and have shown significant improvements in total MVPA [30, 151], but studies have shown that accumulating MVPA in 10-minute bouts is rare [151, 198]. There are three studies that have similar outcomes for their interventions in older adults, but at this point the results have not yet been published, and only the study designs are

available [174, 194, 199]. All of these studies are implementing a three-month walking intervention in older adults so it will be interesting to see how our results compare to theirs [174, 194, 199]. These statistically significant improvements seen during the first six weeks may be attributed to an initial increase in activity based on use of the pedometer, which has been seen in previous studies [13, 30, 161, 162, 200-202]. Another potential reason for this increase could be due to the flexible scheduling that was implemented with high contact during the first week of the study and then the freedom to complete walking on their own schedule in a location of their choice. The high contact at the start has been proven to aid participants in becoming more active [80, 134], and combining this with completing most of the walking on their own schedule can lead to better adherence [58, 130, 132]. At this time all participants were receiving the same intervention, and had not been randomized to group one or group two yet. Even if MVPA time spent in 10-minute bouts increased significantly, no participants were reaching 150 minutes in 10-minute bouts as recommended by the CPAG [9]. Even though reaching the CPAG brings optimal health benefits, Moore et al. [45] has proven that any increase in physical activity can lead to health benefits as achieving 0.1 to 3.74 METs/hour/week, which was associated with brisk walking less than 75 minutes per week, when compared to no activity, was associated with an increase in life expectancy of 1.8 years (95% CI 1.6-2.0). Because the second phase of the study was including a group of participants keeping the same intervention, it was interesting to see if that increase in total and 10minute bouts would keep increasing or at least remain the same given the small investment to get these older adults to walk more. These findings lead into phase two of the intervention where the CPAG were emphasized for all participants, addressing intensity and 10-minute bouts.

Phase 2

The objective of phase 2 was to introduce intensity of exercise while walking, with two different interventions. During this time the participants were randomly assigned to group one who were provided with information regarding the cadence necessary to reach moderate intensity, and a pedometer and guidance on how to use it to determine if this cadence is being met in 10-minute bouts, or to group two who received the CPAG but had to identify moderate intensity on their own and had their pedometer locked. The benefits that come along with reaching at least moderate intensity are well documented [45, 126, 127], and the CPAG identifies 10-minute bouts at this intensity as the minimum in order to obtain optimal health benefits [128, 139-141]. This phase of the intervention led to significant increases in MVPA in 10-minute bouts (p<0.01) and total MVPA (p<0.01) for group one. Although the increase for group one was not enough to have the majority of participants reaching the CPAG, they have increased their MVPA in 10-minute bouts from a median of 31 (11 to 55) minutes, to 88 (52 to 143) minutes per week; 2.8 times more than at six weeks. This is especially important when compared to the group two who saw a significant reduction in their median time in MVPA in 10-minute from week six to week twelve. This decrease may be associated with the fact that they had no visual feedback from the pedometer during this time, while the intervention did, and this type of feedback has been associated with increased activity levels [13, 30, 161, 162, 200-202].

There are many factors that influenced group ones increase in MVPA in 10minute bouts and total MVPA such as the use of the pedometer and its visual feedback, flexible scheduling, practice and guidance on how to walk at the right cadence to reach moderate intensity, and individualized walking cadence prescriptions. These factors are supported by the current literature, but to our knowledge this study is the first to incorporate them all into a walking intervention with the goal of increasing MVPA time in 10-minute bouts for inactive adults.

Pedometer

The pedometer has been proven in multiple studies as an effective device for increasing physical activity levels [13, 30, 161, 162, 200-202]. The majority of these studies had a main outcome of increasing the total number of steps taken which is a measure of increasing physical activity levels but does not take into consideration the intensity at which the steps are taken. For a purchase price of about \$30, the pedometer used in this study was capable of recording much more than just the number of steps taken, most importantly for this study it was able to record time spent in moderate to vigorous intensity each day, it can be individually programmed for cadences needed to reach moderate and vigorous intensity, and it has a memory of at least 14 days [31].

Plenty of studies that have used other pedometers as intervention tools, and these studies support that using the pedometers and receiving the instant visual feedback from them can lead to an increase in physical activity levels and motivation [13, 30, 161, 162, 200-202]. Some of these studies indicate that the effects of the pedometer may only be influential during the short term and that in order to see greater improvements goal setting should be included [30, 161, 162]. This might explain why we observed an increase in total MVPA and MVPA in 10-min bouts during the first phase on the study but not in the second phase for the group two.

These findings are similar to those of Clemes et al. [201], and Marshall [202], who both found that when comparing groups who received feedback to those that did not receive the instant visual feedback from the pedometer, the feedback groups in both studies significantly increased their physical activity levels based on total step counts, suggesting that instant feedback has a positive influence on physical activity levels. Although the outcome measures from these studies are not exactly the same as our main outcome, they all support the use of pedometers as a tool to increase physical activity. Interestingly, when total step count was looked at in our study, although this was not a main outcome, group two saw a significant decrease from week six to week twelve ($p \le p$ 0.05) which aligns with the decreases seen in total MVPA and time in MVPA in 10minute bouts, but group one did not see a significant change in total steps. This means that although group one increased both total MVPA and MVPA in 10-minute bouts in phase 2 of the intervention, they did this without significantly increasing the total steps taken. These findings are similar to a recent study by Barreira et al. [203] that that aimed to increase steps per day. In this study there were no significant difference in the change in total steps per day when comparing the control and intervention group, but similar to our findings, the intervention group accumulated more steps at higher cadences [203].

Flexible schedule

Providing a study that had some contact and some freedom to do the activity on your own may have provided a good balance to increase total MVPA and MVPA in 10-minute bouts. Previous studies have shown that having contact with participants can lead to greater adherence to the physical activity intervention [134], and it can also increase selfefficacy, and low self-efficacy has been associated with decreased adherence [80]. All participants in our study, regardless of the group received the same amount of contact; three testing visits, six walking visits, and one final walking visit. Even though there were 10 visits required in this study, the majority of the activity was not completed with the research staff, and participants had the flexibility to do their walking whenever and wherever they wanted to throughout the week. By doing this we hoped to have the benefits provided through high contact as mentioned previously [80, 134], but also wanted to use predominantly a home-based program as these types of programs have been shown to have better adherence [58, 130, 132]. Home-based programs have also been identified as a necessary component to any intervention in order to have lasting effects [130], which should be the goal of any intervention.

Guidance on how to achieve moderate intensity

As is shown in some of the recent studies on walking cadence in older adults, that group of people are able to achieve cadences ≥ 100 steps per minute [26-28], but when their activity levels are monitored during free living, these cadences are not achieved very often [28]. In our study it was found that the average cadence required to reach moderate intensity for group two was 112 ± 9 steps per minute, and by the end of the intervention they were spending a median of 88 (52-143) minutes per at this cadence in 10-minute bouts, which was a significant improvement from week six ($p \le 0.01$). These findings indicate that achieving these higher cadences is possible. Participants in group one were not only told what cadence they needed to walk to reach moderate intensity, but they also walked at this cadence with research staff at three different visits and learnt how to use the pedometer, which provided instant visual feedback on whether this cadence was being achieved every ten consecutive minutes. The idea of practicing the appropriate walking cadence has been proven effective at being able to walk at this speed again as was shown in a study done by Rice et al. [204]. Participants in this study were randomly assigned to two different groups, one only received information regarding physical activity recommendations, whereas the other group also had one practice session walking at moderate intensity based on 55 to 70% of predicted HR max for ten minutes [204]. Interestingly enough, when participants returned one month later and were asked to walk at moderate intensity, measured by research staff based on achieving and maintaining 55 to 70% of their predicted HR max, those who had the one practice session were more successful at achieving and maintaining this intensity for at least ten minutes ($p \le 0.05$) [204].

Benefits of individualizing walking cadence prescriptions

METs are a common absolute measurement of exercise intensity that are frequently used in the literature with a threshold of reaching 3 METs being equivalent to achieving moderate intensity [22-25, 150-152]. By default one MET is equal to 3.5 ml/kg/min [153]. Thus, reaching 3 METs is equal to 10.5 mL O₂/kg/min [153] by default. Although METs are a commonly used measurement, they provide no adaptation for individual differences in CRF levels. It is well known that CRF will reduce with age [89] and the number of METs to reach moderate intensity should be adjusted as recommended by the ACSM [38], but studies on walking cadence are ignoring that fact when using 3 METs for all [22-25]. Therefore, prescribing 3 METs to everyone, regardless of their maximal CRF level and age does not offer the most valid prescription. For example, if two different people with different CRF levels perform the same task, the individual who has a lower CRF level will be working at a higher percentage of their CRF level in comparison to a person with a higher CRF level. This will result in different intensities being achieved, and potentially create a difference in the health benefits being achieved with the same exercise. Using a relative measure of CRF, such as 40% VO₂R [38], to prescribe intensity may be more favorable since this takes into consideration the individuals characteristics and maximal CRF level.

The literature on walking cadence to date has used reaching 3 METs as a threshold for reaching moderate intensity [22-25, 30], and this has resulted in general prescription of walking 100 steps per minute to achieve moderate intensity [22-25]. In our study a relative prescription method based on VO₂R was used, and a greater cadence was identified to reach moderate intensity (114 \pm 11 steps per minute) even if the sample was older than most previous studies. The walking cadence prescribed in this study to reach moderate intensity was based on the cadence required while walking on an indoor flat surface when reaching 40% VO₂R, determined based on the VO₂ peak measured during the maximal CRF test. With this information we were able to determine the equivalent METs being used for each individual when they reached 40% VO₂R (ml/kg/min \div 3.5), and based on the cadence needed to reach 40% VO₂R, we were able to calculate the cadence that would be equivalent to reaching 3 METs for each participant. When converting our median cadence to reach moderate intensity to a cadence equivalent to reaching 3 METs, 105 ± 17 steps per minute was the average. It is also interesting to note that if the prescription of 100 steps per minute would have been used in this population only 14% of the participants would have reached moderate intensity, when the prescription was based on 40% VO₂R. When the cadence prescribed at 40% VO₂R was compared to the estimated cadence based on reaching 3 METs using a Wilcoxon test, there was a significant difference ($p \le 0.01$), indicating that prescribing a relative measure of moderate intensity will lead to the need to achieve a higher cadence to reach moderate intensity while walking. Our analysis shows us that moderate intensity based on 40% VO₂R has participants achieving about 3.4 METs compared to the typical 3 METs that are often prescribed [22-25, 30]. It is important to note that even the difference is only 0.4 METs, it was significantly different and it is likely that the discrepancy between 3 METs and the METs required to reach 40% VO₂R would be larger in younger samples because CRF levels decrease with age [89]. Studies on older adults support that a cadence of approximately 100 steps per minute it equivalent to reaching 3 METs [26-28], which is similar to our findings were when average cadence at 3 METs was calculated it was 105 steps per minute, but whether this is truly reaching moderate intensity is debatable as these same studies have found that older adults self-select cadences higher then this, even when asked to walk at a slow pace [26-28].

Both the estimated VO₂ max and the estimated cadence based on the estimated VO₂ max were significantly higher ($p \le 0.01$) than the measured VO₂ peak (24 ± 6; 25 ± 6) and prescribed walking cadence (114 ± 11; 121 ± 16). Therefore it can be interpreted that if these older adults were to be prescribed a walking cadence based on their true maximum aerobic capacity, it likely would have to be even higher than the cadence that was prescribed in this study, and much higher than the commonly prescribed 100 steps per minute.

Changes in clinical variables

In our study, clinical variables such as VO_2 peak, prescribed cadence, BMI, and physical capacity were measured. In phase 1, only BMI and physical capacity were measured and no significant improvement was observed. In phase 2, no difference was observed in most of the variables, but VO_2 peak increased in group two. Although it is proven that endurance exercise training in older adults can lead to similar increases in VO₂ max as younger adults [205], and an increase is seen in group one during the second phase of this study, it is important to recognize that this may be due to factors other than simply increased aerobic capacity. Familiarization with exercise protocol has been proven to impact results [206], although in this study both groups had the same number of tests and familiarization sessions on the treadmill. This difference could also be attributed to the fact that group one likely worked at a higher intensity during phase 2 of the intervention and therefore felt more confident pushing harder in their final CRF test. When VO_2 peak values were compared at week 12 between the two groups using a Mann-Whitney test no significant difference was observed, but because this test does not take into consideration the VO_2 peak values at week 6 it is still important to recognize the difference that is presented based on the percent change over this six week period.

In a systematic review on interventions done with pedometers to increase physical activity levels, an average significant decrease in BMI (p = 0.03) was observed among these studies [162], which is interesting when compared to our study were no significant difference was found. Some of the main differences between the studies in this review and our study were the main goal, theirs was to increase total step count whereas ours was focused on time and intensity, the average intervention length was 18 weeks, compared to

our which was only 12 weeks, and the average age in these studies was about 20 years younger than ours [162]. Physical capacity scores were the total scores of whether the norm, based on age and gender, was met for eight different tests. The issue with this method is that some of the tests are more strongly related to walking then others, for example the chair stand is to measure lower body strength and the 6-minute walk is for aerobic endurance [6], both closely associated with the goal of trying to increase walking, whereas tests that were included such as the arm curl for upper body strength and the back scratch for upper body flexibility [6] may not be as significant in influencing the main outcome of this study. It has been shown that increasing the distance of a 6 minute walk test by as little as 20 meters can lead to a meaningful change in physical performance measures [207], therefore in an attempt to display an overall picture of the participants' physical capacity by combining all the scores, this may have minimized the association between certain tests and our main outcome.

The positive health outcome that was seen in this study was group ones improved VO_2 peak scores from week six to week twelve (p = 0.02), indicating an increase in CRF levels. This is impressive to find after only six weeks of an intensity intervention because these results in the older population prove that regular aerobic physical activity can help to decrease the age related decline in maximal aerobic capacity [89] which in turn helps to sustain functional capacity [55], preserve bone mass [20], and lead to a decreased risk for the many chronic diseases that are associated with physical inactivity [3, 41]. A decrease of about 10% of maximal aerobic capacity per decade happens with age if an individual is sedentary [89], but if an active lifestyle is maintained this decrease can go down to only a 5% decrease per decade [89]. These findings are supported by some of the exercise interventions that have been done on an older population as they have shown

increases in VO₂ peak of 8.5% [208], and 8.4% [209], compared to the 9% increase we saw. It has also been shown that longer interventions on this population align with these results, and even more substantial improvements in VO₂ peak are possible [210]. Even with the significant increase seen in VO₂ peak in phase 2 in group one, the prescribed cadence did not increase, suggesting that more than 2ml/kg/min is needed to change the prescribe cadence to reach moderate intensity when established based on 40% of VO₂R.

The increase in VO_2 peak values seen in group one from week six to week twelve (p = 0.02), are consistent with the findings of Posner et al. [208] where a significant increase ($p \le 0.01$) in VO₂ peak was also seen in the intervention group after a 16 week low to moderate intensity exercise program when compared to the non-exercise control group. The meta-analysis done by Huang et al. [211] also supports that it is common to see a significant increase in VO₂ peak in previously sedentary older adults in the intervention group, and not in the control group after an exercise intervention. It is believed that a VO₂ max of about 20 ml/kg/min is the minimum in order to live and independent lifestyle [211], therefore finding simple ways to increase an individuals VO₂ peak is important in order to be able to support functional ability and independence. Based on the VO_2 max norms that are based on age and gender, provided by the Physical Fitness Specialist Manual [212], 43% of the participants at week six were reaching or surpassing the fair category, showing that the majority of the participants in this study could use an improvement. When VO_2 peak scores at week six are compared to the minimum requirement for maintaining an independent lifestyle [211], 24% of the participants were below this threshold, but by the end of the study this percentage dropped to 14% which is representative of the clinical significance this intervention had on VO_2 peak and therefore CRF. This information is quite representative of the type of participants that we tried to recruit for this study because they had to be in fairly good health in order to pass the PAR-Q+ questionnaire which explains why most have a VO_2 peak equal to or greater then that associated with being able to function independently [211], but they were also required to be inactive at the start of the study, so seeing low VO_2 peak values was not surprising.

Completers vs. non-completers

Most of the characteristics at baseline; age, sex, education, NEWS score, total MVPA, total steps, BMI and physical capacity, when comparing participants who completed the study and those who did not, did not have a significant difference. The only variable that was significantly different (p = 0.05) between these two groups was the number of minutes of MVPA in 10-minute bouts at baseline. At baseline the completers had a median time of 10 minutes (0-32) per week, while the non-completers had a median of 0 minutes (0-27) per week. The study started with 51 participants, who all completed their first visit and were eligible to continue, 42 participants completed the entire 12-week intervention which means there was approximately an 18% drop out rate. Previous studies that implemented a 12-week walking intervention saw dropout rates of only about 5% [30, 138], which is lower than the rate that we saw in our study. These studies were both done on a younger population [30, 138], which is interesting because it has been shown that adherence to exercise prescriptions in older adults is usually higher than in a younger population [213]. Gender may have played a role in dropout rates because although there was a smaller number of men that participated in the study, they had a 24% decrease from baseline to week twelve while participation by women decreased by 15%. Some other factors that can influence older adults adherence to an exercise prescription are the level

of fitness at baseline, history of having a physically active lifestyle, and the level of exercise self-efficacy [213]. The last two points were not measured during our study, but the level of fitness was measured for all participants at week six, and this may give some insight into why there was more drop out in the intervention group. Higher fitness levels are associated with better adherence to exercise prescriptions [213], and in this study when CRF was measured at week six it is evident that group two had a significantly higher (p = 0.05) VO₂ peak than group one, and this could be a reason that no participants dropped out from group two during phase 2, and there was a 13% drop out rate in group one during the same time period.

During the entire intervention there was only one participant that dropped out due to an injury from walking. This participant was in group one and sustained a sprained ankle during the second phase of the intervention, when the intensity target was implemented. It could be hypothesized that the intensity prescribed was too high and that this may have led to the injury, but the walking cadence prescribed at week six was based on 40% VO₂R and was 105 steps per minute. This cadence is on the lower end of the prescriptions given, as the average cadence to achieve this intensity based on all participants was 114 \pm 11 steps per minute. In addition, the chosen normal cadence was measured at baseline, and this typical walking cadence was 102 steps per minute. Based on these facts, the walking cadence prescribed appears to be accurate and achievable, and the injury, although unfortunate, is not an uncommon form of injury for this population [214]. In fact, Statistics Canada reports that 55% of the injuries that occur in seniors take place during walking or household chores, and strains or sprains are the most common type of injury despite age classification [214].

Who is more likely to increase MVPA in 10-minute bouts?

An influential variable for determining whether participants were reaching the median change in MVPA in 10-minute bouts from week seven to week twelve was the group (p = 0.04), with a higher proportion of participants in group one reaching the median. These findings support that the intervention was making a significant difference and this intervention should be tested on a longer term and add measures of health and function. This is also supported based on the results that 9 of the 10 people achieving >100 minutes of MVPA in 10-minute bouts at the end of the study were from group one. This result is encouraging because although the CPAG are not being fully met, this amount of activity for these participants increased from 75 ± 63 minutes per week to 142 (131-177) minutes per week, which is a significant increase ($p \le 0.01$). Any increase in activity is beneficial and is associated with health benefits, especially when starting from an inactive level [81, 82]. The CPAG recommends reaching 150 minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity per week, but they also state clearly that every little bit of activity counts, but more is better [33]. In addition, research has shown that as little as one hour of walking per week, at as little as a light to moderate intensity, can be associated with lowering cardiovascular disease mortality [83]. This supports that an increase in MVPA in this intervention can be seen as a significant accomplishment for these participants, and these improvements were achieved over a period of only twelve weeks, with only six of those weeks focusing on intensity. Therefore with a longer intervention these results have the potential to increase even further and might be sustainable because of the nature of the activity. During this intervention it is also possible that any increase in walking time could have improved participants' health and decreased risk of all-cause mortality [215].

Some of the advantages to this intervention are that it was fairly low cost, and did not require substantial resources. The use of pedometers as the main tool for the intervention is a cost effective strategy. The only costly component to this study was the maximal test, as these require not only the metabolic cart, but also a CEP to administer the test. Although both groups received the same information regarding the CPAG, and both had the same number of testing and walking visits, the data shows that the extra information regarding the cadence needed to reach moderate intensity, and having the pedometer as a tool to help them achieve the correct speed, aided in group ones ability to increase MVPA in 10-minute bouts. These findings are similar to those found by Marshall et al. [30]. In this study there were three different groups who all received different step goals; the first group was a self-selected goal, the second was a goal of accumulating 10,000 steps per day, and the third group was a goal of walking 3000 steps in 30 minutes [30]. This was also a 12-week intervention that resulted in the group who was prescribed walking 3000 steps in 30 minutes, which is equivalent to walking 100 steps per minute, significantly increasing their MVPA in 10-minute bouts as compared to both of the other two groups ($p \le 0.01$) [30].

One of the limitations to this study is that the intervention tool was a pedometer, but the tool used to measure the outcome was an accelerometer at baseline and at week twelve [30]. To address this issue we used the pedometer as the main tool for intervention and analysis. Although we did collected accelerometer data at the beginning and end of the study, the pedometer was used for the main outcome because this pedometer has the ability to record time spent in moderate to vigorous intensity, as well as the number of 10minute bouts accumulated at this intensity each day [31], which is more information than many other pedometers provide. The accelerometer data was used to verify that the similar changes occurred between the two devices, but based on being able to set the pedometer to the individualized cadence necessary to reach moderate intensity, this information was more reliable for measuring the outcome we were looking for. These two devices were evaluated for their correlation to see how accurately the pedometer measured MVPA in 10-minute bouts. The correlation for 10-minute bouts in MVPA was fairly strong, but not as great for total MVPA. This suggests that both devices detect 10-minute bouts fairly consistently, but the pedometer may not pick up as much of the movement as the accelerometer for the total MVPA values. This could be because the pedometer most accurately measures only ambulatory movement [31] whereas the accelerometer is more sensitive to other movements as well. These results will have to be confirmed with a validity study in the future.

Similar to Marshall et al. [30], Ayabe et al. [151] also prescribed a cadence of either 1000 steps in 10 minutes or 3000 steps in 30 minutes, both equivalent to 100 steps per minute, and found that these prescriptions increased total MVPA time, but did not see the same increase in MVPA in 10-minute bouts that were seen in our intervention. Both of these studies align with our results in finding that using a pedometer as a tool, along with a walking cadence to reach moderate intensity, resulted in increasing MVPA time [30, 151]. The results of the study by Ayabe et al. [151] show that bouts of 10-minutes are not being achieved, and based on our baseline data this is found to be true, even in group two at the end this is still evident, which emphasizes that the intervention used in our study had an important impact on increasing MVPA in 10-minute bouts because group one saw a median increase from 7 (0–39) minutes at baseline to 88 (52-143) minutes at the end of the intervention. Bouchard et al. [13] also carried out a walking intervention in an inactive older population, in this study different tools were used by the

participants, and although the difference in time spent at moderate to vigorous intensity was not significant between the groups at the end, the pedometer was the favored tool, supporting that this tool is a good choice for this particular population.

Another factor that was significantly different between the groups was VO₂ peak values. This data shows that people with a lower VO₂ peak when starting phase 2 were more likely to see a change in MVPA in 10-minute bouts. This is interesting because, it could have been hypothesized that older adults with a better VO₂ peak at start would have respond positively to the intervention. However, it is well documented that those starting from a lower fitness level are likely to see more significant improvements from increasing activity levels as it is proven that the greatest improvements in health are seen in the initial stages when sedentary individuals become active [81, 82]. The difference that becomes evident between groups one and two could be attributed to more successfully reaching moderate intensity because with the extra guidance on how to achieve this intensity group one was more successful at achieving moderate to vigorous intensity in 10-minute bouts, and reaching this intensity is associated with improved health and functional capacity [45, 126, 127].

Physical capacity was significantly different between the two median groups ($p \le 0.01$) and remained significant in the logistic regression model, showing that the group with a greater median percent change in MVPA in 10-minute bouts had a lower physical capacity level at baseline. This implies that the intervention is achievable for individuals with a lower physical capacity level which is an important population to target with this type of intervention because increases in CRF are associated with improved physical capacity [55].

One factor that was not controlled for when randomizing participants into groups was education level, and there was a significant difference between the two groups ($p \le 0.05$), with group one having more participants with a college or university education. This is important because education level is associated to an individual's socioeconomic status [216] and knowledge about health [217], which has the potential to influence motivation, understanding, and compliance to the intervention. However, the education level did not play a role in the proportion of change in MVPA in 10-minute bouts.

Four weather conditions were tracked throughout the 12-week intervention, temperature, humidity, humidex, and precipitation. Out of all of these factors only one that had any significance on the main outcome of increasing MVPA in 10-minute bouts was the humidity measured at week twelve. Table 5 shows the changes in weather that occurred between week six and week twelve of the intervention, comparing the two groups. During this time both groups saw significant decreases ($p \le 0.01$) in all aspects, as the seasons started to change, the only variable that did not see significant decrease was the humidity for group one. These findings may help to explain why humidity at week twelve was the only weather factor that had a significant correlation (r = 0.37; p = 0.02) with change in MVPA in 10-minute bouts from week six to week twelve. Although this correlation does not remain significant when comparing group one and group two, when comparing the median groups higher humidity is associated with being in the above the median group (p = 0.001). Previous research has shown that weather can impact physical activity levels, and that poor weather can be seen as a barrier to being physically active [64]. It is also shown that due to this seasons can impact activity levels, with peak activity usually taking place during the spring and summer seasons (April to August) [64]. These findings could help to explain why the higher humidity at week twelve was associated with being in the group above the median for percent change in MVPA in 10-minute bouts, because the intervention went to the end of October for some, therefore higher humidity during this time may have been associated with warmer and more enjoyable conditions to walk in.

Limitations

One of the limitations for this study is the sample size, because it's a small group the effects, whether positive or negative, may appear more significant than they are because every individual has a larger impact when there are fewer participants. This is also the reason that non-parametric tests for statistical analysis had to be used, because the sample was not large enough to have the data normally distributed. Based on this it is important to recognize that the results should only be generalized to a similar population.

A power calculation was not done in order to determine the number of participants for this intervention. This is a limitation to our study, but this would have been challenging because there are no studies done previously that implemented this type of intervention in older adults. 50 participants as the recruitment goal was the largest sample that would be possible based on budget and available resources. With a final number of 42 participants completing the study, this still represents the largest sample of older adults recruited to identify if an intervention based on walking cadence, using individual cutpoints can help increasing the weekly total time and 10-minute bouts spent weekly.

Not measuring maximal aerobic capacity at the beginning of the study is a limitation. The reason this was not done is because aerobic intensity was not being addressed until week six of the intervention, and to save on cost. However, this provides some challenges because there will not be a comparative individualized cadence for participants from baseline. Pedometer MVPA time at baseline was adjusted using the equation related to their prescribed cadence at week six. Fortunately the accelerometer data that was collected at baseline was able to support the trend in physical activity levels between the two devices. Even though the minutes in MVPA in 10-minute bouts were not identical between the accelerometer and pedometer, they were significantly correlated It was also shown that time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts was significantly correlated with an accelerometer when using a valid cut point [177], helping to support the validity of this measure.

Because the prescription for moderate intensity in this study was based off of the VO₂ peak from the CRF test at week six, a concern could be that participants may not have reached a true maximum and therefore their walking cadence prescription would not truly have them reaching moderate intensity. This can be disputed by the data presented regarding the average walking cadence and METs achieved based on prescribing 40% VO_2R . The average prescribed walking cadence was 114 ± 11 steps per minute which was equivalent to reaching 3.4 METs, and both of these values surpass the standard 100 steps per minute and 3 MET guidelines that are currently in the literature [22-25, 30]. This argues that not only did the CRF tests give a good indication of aerobic capacity, but also prescribing moderate intensity based on the relative measure of 40% VO₂R is an effective way to have individuals reaching an appropriate intensity to gain optimal health benefits. It is also important to recognize that when two-point estimation was used to see what the estimated VO_2 max would have been, and the corresponding cadence, both of the estimations were significantly higher than the data based on VO_2 peak. The VO2 peak compared to the estimated VO2 max was about one ml/kg/min higher which was statistically significant (p < 0.05), and the walking cadence that was prescribed was 114 \pm 11 step per minute compared to the estimated value of 121 ± 16 (p ≤ 0.01). This shows that if participants would have reached closer to their maximum aerobic capacity the prescribed walking cadence would have been significantly higher then what was prescribed, but even more so it would have been about 20% higher than the typically recommended 100 steps per minute. It should be noted that this walking prescription was not based on cadence on the treadmill, it was prescribed using a portable metabolic cart so that walking took place on an indoor flat surface, in hopes of prescribing the most accurate cadence possible.

The cadence on the pedometer can only be set by every five steps which caused us to round the walking cadence prescriptions, therefore they were not as accurate as they could have been, but they are still the first relative walking cadence to be prescribed. Pedometers also do not account for differences in terrain which can impact the difficulty and cadence of walking, and they are not able to adjust for different loads, for example if someone is carrying a heavy bag this will impact their walking but will not be reflected in pedometer data. Lastly, pedometer data was used from all days that it was supposed to be worn; unlike the accelerometer there is no measure of non-wear time or a standardized threshold for valid days.

Accelerometer data was not used as the main outcome because although the accelerometer is more validated in the literature than the Piezo Step pedometer [175, 177], the accelerometer was only used to measure physical activity levels at baseline and week twelve. This is a problem because the randomization into different groups, and the true intervention started after week six, so the accelerometer data does not give a true representation of the interventions effects from week six to twelve. Based on the literature it is also known that the use of different cut points on the accelerometer can make a large

difference in the outcome of the data, and therefore how it is interpreted [178, 179]. In order to try and determine the most accurate cut point for the accelerometer on this population, the cut point at 40% VO₂R was used to determine time spent in 10-minute bouts of MVPA, and total time in MVPA. Once the individualized cut points were determined based off of the walking cadence at 40% VO₂R, a correlation between the individualized cut points for each participant and their VO₂ peak, as well as their prescribed walking cadence was run. Both of these tests resulted in significant correlations with the VO₂ peak at week six having a correlation of r = 0.78 ($p \le 0.01$), and the prescribed walking cadence r = 0.68 ($p \le 0.01$), demonstrating that this individualized approach may be a good strategy when using the accelerometers.

Physical capacity was measured based on the SFT and the unipedal stance tests from the CSEP protocol, and whether the norms, based on age and gender, for each test were met was scored for each participant. These scores were then totaled and used as comparison of physical capacity. It is possible that some of these tests may be more strongly correlated with increasing MVPA in 10-minute bouts, and that combining all the tests may take away some of the significant effect these tests could have had. The reason for doing this was because all of these tests give an overall representation of physical capacity, which encompasses more than just being able to walk, so utilizing them all seemed the most logical.

It also must be taken into consideration that typically activity increases in the summer months, so although participants are inactive when starting the intervention we do not have information regarding their activity levels the previous summer, so there is a chance that they would have become more active over the summer even without the walking intervention. Another limitation that should be addressed is the education level difference between the two groups. Group one had a higher education level in comparison to group two, and this has the potential to impact the study because education level is associated with an individuals socioeconomic status [216] and knowledge about health [217]. These factors have the potential to influence the participants motivation for the physical activity intervention and therefore potentially their compliance as well. However, when statistical analysis was performed, although there was a significant difference between the groups based on education level, this did not play a role in the proportion of change in MVPA in 10-minute bouts.

Finally, all participants were volunteers and this is a limitation because they are likely more motivated than a non-volunteer population [195]. It has been shown that women are more likely to volunteer than men [218], which may be a reason for the gender difference in our study. Although this could be seen as a limitation as 71% of the participants were women, when running the analyses, gender was controlled for and did not present itself as being a significant factor related to walking in MVPA or accumulating time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts.

Impact of Research

This research is novel based on the fact that it was a randomized balance design intervention, participants received an individualized cadence based off of their own maximal CRF test, not a standard prescription, and participants in group one received instant visual feedback from the pedometers on their ability to reach moderate to vigorous intensity, which has never been done before. This research has the potential to impact the large number of older adults who are currently not reaching the CPAG with an intervention that does not require extensive resources. This study shows that this intervention, using a simple tool such as a pedometer, can help older adults to increase the proportion of time they spend walking in moderate intensity in 10-minute bouts, and this increases their opportunity for achieving the aerobic component of the CPAG.

Conclusion

This intervention shows that the use of a prescribed walking cadence along with the knowledge of how to achieve this cadence and being able to track time at this intensity with a pedometer can lead to an increase in physical activity levels. This intervention shows that the impact of having practice walking at the correct cadence, along with the ability to receive instant visual feedback regarding whether this cadence is being accurately achieved makes a large impact on whether total MVPA time, MVPA in 10-minute bouts, and VO₂ peak increase. These findings were made apparent based on the difference that was shown between the two groups from week six to week twelve, as well as by the fact that the group was a significant variable in having a change in time in MVPA in 10-minute bouts. Another important finding is that people with a lower VO₂ peak and lower physical capacity were more likely to improve their time spent doing MVPA in 10-minute bouts following this intervention.

The next steps for this area of research would be to validate the pedometers providing feedback on moderate to vigorous intensity in older adults, and develop an algorithm to predict the needed walking cadence to reach moderate intensity to avoid having to use a metabolic cart to individualize the walking cadence needed to reach moderate intensity.

REFERENCES

- 1. Rabaeus M, *Sedentarity--sedentary lifestyle and physical activity]*. Therapeutische Umschau. Revue thérapeutique, 2005. **62**(9): p. 651.
- World Health Organization. Global health risks: mortality and burden of disease attributable to selected major risks. 2009. Accessed November 23, 2014; Available from: http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/GlobalHealthRisks_report_ full.pdf.
- 3. World Health Organzation. *Health topics: Physical activity*. Accessed December 1, 2014; Available from: http://www.who.int/topics/physical_activity/en/.
- Colley RC, et al., *Physical activity of Canadian adults: accelerometer results from the 2007 to 2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey.* Health Rep, 2011.
 22(1): p. 7-14.
- 5. Paterson DH and Warburton DE, *Review Physical activity and functional limitations in older adults: a systematic review related to Canada's Physical Activity Guidelines.* International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 2010. **7**(38): p. 1-22.
- 6. Rikli RE, and Jones CJ, *Senior Fitness Test Manual*. Second ed. 2013.
- Guralnik JM, et al., Lower-extremity function in persons over the age of 70 years as a predictor of subsequent disability. New England Journal of Medicine, 1995.
 332(9): p. 556-562.
- 8. Martinson BC, et al., *Changes in physical activity and short-term changes in health care charges: a prospective cohort study of older adults.* Preventive Medicine, 2003. **37**(4): p. 319-326.
- 9. CSEP. Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines and Canadian Sedentary Behaviour Guidelines. Accessed Novmber 23, 2014; Available from: http://www.csep.ca/english/view.asp?x=804.
- 10. Dyrstad SM, et al., *Comparison of self-reported versus accelerometer-measured physical activity*. Medicine and science in sports and exercise, 2014. **46**(1): p. 99-106.
- 11. Bryan SN and Katzmarzyk PT, *Are Canadians meeting the guidelines for moderate and vigorous leisure-time physical activity?* Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 2009. **34**(4): p. 707-715.

- 12. Ready AE, et al., *Canada's physical activity guide recommendations are a low benchmark for Manitoba adults*. Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 2009. **34**(2): p. 172-181.
- 13. Bouchard DR, et al., *Pilot study: can older inactive adults learn how to reach the required intensity of physical activity guideline?* Clin Interv Aging, 2013. **8**: p. 501-8.
- 14. Plotnikoff RC, et al., *Awareness of Canada's Physical Activity Guide to Healthy Active Living in a Large Community Sample.* American Journal of Health Promotion, 2011. **25**(5): p. 294-297.
- 15. McAuley E, et al., *Social relations, physical activity, and well-being in older adults.* Preventive medicine, 2000. **31**(5): p. 608-617.
- 16. Hassmén P, Koivula N, and Uutela A, *Physical exercise and psychological wellbeing: a population study in Finland.* Preventive medicine, 2000. **30**(1): p. 17-25.
- 17. Martinsen EW, *Physical activity in the prevention and treatment of anxiety and depression*. Nordic journal of psychiatry, 2008. **62**(S47): p. 25-29.
- 18. Mead GE, et al., *Exercise for depression*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2009. **3**.
- 19. Ströhle A, *Physical activity, exercise, depression and anxiety disorders*. Journal of neural transmission, 2009. **116**(6): p. 777-784.
- 20. Nelson ME, et al., *Physical Activity and Public Health in Older Adults: Recommendation From the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association*. Circulation, 2007. **116**(9): p. 1094-1105.
- 21. CIHI. *Health Care in Canada, 2011: A Focus on Seniors and Aging*. Accessed December 10, 2014; Available from: https://secure.cihi.ca/free_products/HCIC_2011_seniors_report_en.pdf.
- 22. Abel M, et al., *Determination of step rate thresholds corresponding to physical activity intensity classifications in adults*. Journal of Physical Activity and Health, 2011. **8**(1): p. 45-51.
- Marshall SJ, et al., *Translating physical activity recommendations into a pedometer-based step goal: 3000 steps in 30 minutes*. Am J Prev Med, 2009. 36(5): p. 410-415.
- 24. Rowe DA, et al., *Stride rate recommendations for moderate-intensity walking*. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 2011. **43**(2): p. 312-318.
- 25. Tudor-Locke C, et al., *Pedometer-determined step count guidelines for classifying walking intensity in a young ostensibly healthy population*. Can J Appl Physiol, 2005. **30**(6): p. 666-676.

- 26. Peacock L, et al., *Stride rate and walking intensity in healthy older adults*. Journal of aging and physical activity, 2014. **22**(2): p. 276-283.
- 27. Taylor KL, Fitzsimons C, and Mutrie N, *Objective and subjective assessments of normal walking pace, in comparison with that recommended for moderate intensity physical activity.* International Journal of Exercise Science, 2010. **3**(3).
- 28. Tudor-Locke C, et al., *Preliminary comparison of clinical and free-living measures of stepping cadence in older adults*. J Phys Act Health, 2013. **10**(8): p. 1175-1180.
- 29. Statistics Canada. *Physical activity during leisure time*, 2012. Accessed December 10, 2014; Available from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-625-x/2013001/article/11843-eng.htm.
- 30. Marshall SJ, et al., *Using step cadence goals to increase moderate-to-vigorousintensity physical activity*. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 2013. **45**(3): p. 592-602.
- 31. StepsCount. *Piezo Pedometer*. Accessed June 10, 2014; Available from: http://www.stepscount.com/shop-stepsCount/shop-productdetails.php?product=64715&cat=37852&grp=3970601&cur=91677&max=56392 1.
- 32. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, and Christenson GM, *Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research.* Public health reports, 1985. **100**(2): p. 126.
- 33. Tremblay MS, et al., *New Canadian physical activity guidelines*. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab, 2011. **36**(1): p. 36-46; 47-58.
- 34. Pate RR, O'Neill JR, and Lobelo F, *The evolving definition of*" *sedentary*". Exercise and sport sciences reviews, 2008. **36**(4): p. 173-178.
- 35. CSEP, Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology Physical Activity Training for Health Resource Manual. Ottawa, 2013.
- 36. World Health Organization, *Global Recommendations on Physical Acivity for Health.* Accessed November 14, 2014; Available from http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/publications/9789241599979/en/.
- 37. Donnelly JEB, et al., *Appropriate Physical Activity Intervention Strategies for Weight Loss and Prevention of Weight Regain for Adults.* Medicine & Science in Sport & Exercise, 2009. **41**(2): p. 459-471.
- 38. ACSM, ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription. 9th ed. 2013.

- 39. Fleg JL, et al., Assessment of functional capacity in clinical and research applications an advisory from the Committee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention, Council on Clinical Cardiology, American Heart Association. Circulation, 2000. **102**(13): p. 1591-1597.
- 40. Heyward VH, *Advanced Fitness Assessment and Exercise Prescription*. 6th ed. 2010.
- 41. Powell KE, Paluch AE, and Blair SN, *Physical activity for health: What kind? How much? How intense? On top of what?* Annu Rev Public Health, 2011. **32**: p. 349-365.
- 42. Owen NH, Matthews CE, and Dunstan DW, *Too Much Siitting: The Population Health Science of Sedentary Behavior*. Exercise & Sport Science Reviews, 2010. 38(3): p. 105-113.
- 43. Statistics Canada. *Canadian Health Measures Survey: Directly measured physical activity of Canadains, 2007 to 2011.* Accessed November 14, 2014; Available from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/130530/dq130530d-eng.htm.
- 44. Thorp AA, et al., Sedentary Behaviors and Subsequent Health Outcomes in Adults: A Systematic Review of Longitudinal Studies, 1996–2011. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2011. **41**(2): p. 207-215.
- 45. Moore SC, et al., *Leisure time physical activity of moderate to vigorous intensity and mortality: a large pooled cohort analysis.* PLoS Med, 2012. **9**(11): p. e1001335.
- 46. Leitzmann MF, et al., *Physical activity recommendations and decreased risk of mortality*. Archives of internal medicine, 2007. **167**(22): p. 2453-2460.
- 47. US Department of Health and Human Services, *Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Report, 2008.* Accessed November 15, 2014; Available from: http://www.health.gov/paguidelines/report/pdf/committeereport.pdf.
- 48. Mandic S, et al., *Characterizing differences in mortality at the low end of the fitness spectrum.* Medicine+ Science in Sports+ Exercise, 2009. **41**(8): p. 1573.
- 49. Liu-Ambrose TYL, et al., *The Beneficial Effects of Group-Based Exercises on Fall Risk Profile and Physical Activity Persist 1 Year Postintervention in Older Women with Low Bone Mass: Follow-Up After Withdrawal of Exercise.* Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 2005. **53**(10): p. 1767-1773.
- 50. Stevens JA, et al., *Physical activity, functional limitations, and the risk of fallrelated fractures in community-dwelling elderly.* Annals of Epidemiology, 1997. **7**(1): p. 54-61.

- 51. Warburton DER, Nicol CW, and Bredin SSD, *Prescribing exercise as preventive therapy*. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 2006. **174**(7): p. 961-974.
- Manson JE, et al., Walking Compared with Vigorous Exercise for the Prevention of Cardiovascular Events in Women. New England Journal of Medicine, 2002. 347(10): p. 716-725.
- 53. Murphy MH, et al., *The effect of walking on fitness, fatness and resting blood pressure: A meta-analysis of randomised, controlled trials.* Preventive Medicine, 2007. **44**(5): p. 377-385.
- 54. Rognmo Ø, et al., *High intensity aerobic interval exercise is superior to moderate intensity exercise for increasing aerobic capacity in patients with coronary artery disease*. European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation, 2004. 11(3): p. 216-222.
- 55. Myers J, et al., *Exercise capacity and mortality among men referred for exercise testing*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2002. **346**(11): p. 793-801.
- 56. Westerterp KR, *Pattern and intensity of physical activity*. Nature, 2001.410(6828): p. 539-539.
- 57. Mazzeo RS and Tanaka H, *Exercise prescription for the elderly*. Sports Medicine, 2001. **31**(11): p. 809-818.
- 58. King AC, et al., *Group-vs home-based exercise training in healthy older men and women: a community-based clinical trial.* Jama, 1991. **266**(11): p. 1535-1542.
- O'Neill K and Reid G, *Perceived Barriers to Physical Activity by Older Adults*. Canadian Journal of Public Health / Revue Canadienne de Sante'e Publique, 1991.
 82(6): p.392-396.
- 60. Salmon J, Bauman A, and Sallis J, *Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior: A Population-Based Study of Barriers, Enjoyment, and Preference.* . Health Psychology, 2003. **22**(2): p. 178-188.
- 61. Gordon-Larsen P, McMurray RG, and Popkin BM, *Determinants of adolescent physical activity and inactivity patterns.* Pediatrics, 2000. **105**(6): p. e83.
- 62. Merrill RM, et al., *Climate conditions and physical activity in the United States*. American Journal of Health Behavior, 2005. **29**(4): p. 371-381.
- 63. Tu W, et al., *The effects of health and environment on exercise-class participation in older, urban women.* Journal of Aging and Physical Activity, 2004. **12**: p. 480-496.

- 64. Tucker P and Gilliland J, *The effect of season and weather on physical activity: a systematic review.* Public health, 2007. **121**(12): p. 909-922.
- 65. Humpel N, Owen N, and Leslie E, *Environmental factors associated with adults' participation in physical activity: a review.* American journal of preventive medicine, 2002. **22**(3): p. 188-199.
- 66. Ball K, et al., *Perceived environmental aesthetics and convenience and company are associated with walking for exercise among Australian adults.* Preventive medicine, 2001. **33**(5): p. 434-440.
- 67. Booth ML, et al., *Social–cognitive and perceived environment influences associated with physical activity in older Australians.* Preventive medicine, 2000. **31**(1): p. 15-22.
- 68. Sternfeld B, Ainsworth B, and Quesenberry C, *Physical Activity Patterns in a Diverse Population of Women*. Preventive Medicine, 1999. **28**(3): p. 313-323.
- 69. Troped PJ, et al., Associations between self-reported and objective physical environmental factors and use of a community rail-trail. Preventive medicine, 2001. **32**(2): p. 191-200.
- 70. Frank LD, et al., *Many pathways from land use to health: associations between neighborhood walkability and active transportation, body mass index, and air quality.* Journal of the American Planning Association, 2006. **72**(1): p. 75-87.
- 71. Saelens BE, et al., *Neighborhood-based differences in physical activity: an environment scale evaluation*. American journal of public health, 2003. **93**(9): p. 1552-1558.
- 72. Frank LD, et al., *Linking objectively measured physical activity with objectively measured urban form: findings from SMARTRAQ*. American journal of preventive medicine, 2005. **28**(2): p. 117-125.
- 73. King WC, et al., *The relationship between convenience of destinations and walking levels in older women*. American Journal of Health Promotion, 2003. 18(1): p. 74-82.
- 74. Ewing R, et al., *Relationship between urban sprawl and physical activity, obesity, and morbidity.* American journal of health promotion, 2003. **18**(1): p. 47-57.
- 75. Frank LD, Andresen MA, and Schmid TL, *Obesity relationships with community design, physical activity, and time spent in cars.* American journal of preventive medicine, 2004. **27**(2): p. 87-96.

- 76. Giles-Corti B, et al., *Environmental and lifestyle factors associated with overweight and obesity in Perth, Australia.* American Journal of Health Promotion, 2003. **18**(1): p. 93-102.
- 77. Lopez R, *Urban sprawl and risk for being overweight or obese*. American Journal of Public Health, 2004. **94**(9): p. 1574.
- 78. Grembowski D, et al., *Self-Efficacy and Health Behavior Among Older Adults*. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 1993. **34**(2): p. 89-104.
- 79. Bandura A, *Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change*. Psychological Review, 1977. **84**(2): p. 191-215.
- 80. Freene N, et al., *Community group exercise versus physiotherapist-led homebased physical activity program: barriers, enablers and preferences in middleaged adults.* Physiother Theory Pract, 2014. **30**(2): p. 85-93.
- 81. Manini TM, et al., *Daily activity energy expenditure and mortality among older adults*. JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association, 2006. **296**(2): p. 171-179.
- 82. Warburton DE, Nicol CW, and Bredin SS, *Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence*. Canadian medical association journal, 2006. **174**(6): p. 801-809.
- 83. Lee IM, et al., *Physical activity and coronary heart disease in women: Is no pain, no gain passé?* Jama, 2001. **285**(11): p. 1447-1454.
- 84. Lee IM and Paffenbarger RS, *Associations of light, moderate, and vigorous intensity physical activity with longevity The Harvard Alumni Health Study.* American Journal of Epidemiology, 2000. **151**(3): p. 293-299.
- 85. DeSouza CA, et al., *Regular aerobic exercise prevents and restores age-related declines in endothelium-dependent vasodilation in healthy men.* Circulation, 2000. **102**(12): p. 1351-1357.
- 86. Després JP and Lamarche B, *Low intensity endurance exercise training, plasma lipoproteins and the risk of coronary heart disease.* Journal of internal medicine, 1994. **236**(1): p. 7-22.
- 87. Tanaka H, et al., *Aging, habitual exercise, and dynamic arterial compliance*. Circulation, 2000. **102**(11): p. 1270-1275.
- 88. Tran ZV and Weltman A, Differential effects of exercise on serum lipid and lipoprotein levels seen with changes in body weight: a meta-analysis. Jama, 1985. 254(7): p. 919-924.
- 89. Hagberg J, *Effect of training on the decline of VO2max with aging.* in *Federation proceedings.* 1987. **46**(5); p. 1830-1833.
- 90. Kohrt WM, et al., *Body composition of healthy sedentary and trained, young and older men and women.* Medicine and science in sports and exercise, 1992. 24(7): p. 832-837.
- 91. Stevens J, et al., *The effect of age on the association between body-mass index and mortality*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1998. **338**(1): p. 1-7.
- 92. NCEP, Executive summary of the third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association, 2001. **285**(19): p. 2486.
- 93. Stevenson ET, Davy KP, and Seals DR, *Hemostatic, metabolic, and androgenic risk factors for coronary heart disease in physically active and less active postmenopausal women.* Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 1995. 15(5): p. 669-677.
- 94. Chobanian AV, et al., *The seventh report of the joint national committee on prevention, detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure: the JNC 7 report.* Jama, 2003. **289**(19): p. 2560-2571.
- 95. Seals DR, et al., *Effect of regular aerobic exercise on elevated blood pressure in postmenopausal women.* The American journal of cardiology, 1997. **80**(1): p. 49-55.
- 96. Hagberg JM, et al., *Effect of exercise training in 60-to 69-year-old persons with essential hypertension*. The American journal of cardiology, 1989. **64**(5): p. 348-353.
- 97. Ishikawa K, et al., *Influence of age and gender on exercise training-induced blood pressure reduction in systemic hypertension.* The American journal of cardiology, 1999. **84**(2): p. 192-196.
- 98. Unger JB, Johnson CA, and Marks G, *Functional decline in the elderly: evidence for direct and stress-buffering protective effects of social interactions and physical activity.* Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 1997. **19**(2): p. 152-160.
- 99. Haskell WL, et al., *Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association*. Circulation, 2007. **116**(9): p. 1081.
- 100. Gillison FB, et al., *The effects of exercise interventions on quality of life in clinical and healthy populations; a meta-analysis.* Social Science & Medicine, 2009.
 68(9): p. 1700-1710.

- 101. Edwards S, *Physical exercise and psychological well-being*. South African journal of psychology, 2006. **36**(2): p. 357-373.
- 102. Peppers LC, *Patterns of leisure and adjustment to retirement*. The Gerontologist, 1976. **16**(5): p. 441-446.
- Eyler AA, et al., *Physical activity social support and middle-and older-aged minority women: results from a US survey.* Social science & medicine, 1999.
 49(6): p. 781-789.
- Duncan TE and McAuley E, Social support and efficacy cognitions in exercise adherence: A latent growth curve analysis. Journal of behavioral medicine, 1993. 16(2): p. 199-218.
- 105. Edinger JD, et al., *Aerobic fitness, acute exercise and sleep in older men.* Sleep, 1993. **16**(4): p. 351.
- 106. King AC, et al., *Moderate-intensity exercise and self-rated quality of sleep in older adults: a randomized controlled trial.* Jama, 1997. **277**(1): p. 32-37.
- 107. Power M, Bullinger M, and Harper A, *The World Health Organization WHOQOL-100: Tests of the universality of quality of life in 15 different cultural groups worldwide.* Health psychology, 1999. **18**(5): p. 495.
- 108. Patrick DL and Deyo RA, *Generic and disease-specific measures in assessing health status and quality of life*. Medical care, 1989: p. S217-S232.
- Rejeski WJ and Mihalko SL, *Physical activity and quality of life in older adults*. The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 2001. 56(suppl 2): p. 23-35.
- 110. Fox KR, *The influence of physical activity on mental well-being*. Public health nutrition, 1999. **2**(3a): p. 411-418.
- 111. Bowling A, *The psychometric properties of the older people's quality of life questionnaire, compared with the CASP-19 and the WHOQOL-OLD.* Current gerontology and geriatrics research, 2009.
- 112. Tremblay MS, et al., *Process description and evaluation of Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines development*. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 2010. **7**(1): p. 42.
- Branch LG and Jette AM, A prospective study of long-term care institutionalization among the aged. American Journal of Public Health, 1982.
 72(12): p. 1373-1379.
- 114. Nocks BC, et al., *The effects of a community-based long term care project on nursing home utilization*. The Gerontologist, 1986. **26**(2): p. 150-157.

- 115. Statistics Canada. *Population projections: Canada, the provinces and territories,* 2013 to 2063. Accessed December 10, 2014; Available from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/140917/dq140917a-eng.htm.
- 116. Blair SN, et al., *Physical fitness and all-cause mortality: A prospective study of healthy men and women.* Jama, 1989. **262**(17): p. 2395-2401.
- 117. Farrell SW, et al., *Influences of cardiorespiratory fitness levels and other predictors on cardiovascular disease mortality in men.* Medicine and science in sports and exercise, 1998. **30**(6): p. 899-905.
- 118. Paffenbarger Jr RS, et al., *Physical activity, all-cause mortality, and longevity of college alumni.* New England journal of medicine, 1986. **314**(10): p. 605-613.
- 119. Williams PT, Vigorous exercise, fitness and incident hypertension, high cholesterol, and diabetes. Medicine and science in sports and exercise, 2008.
 40(6): p. 998.
- 120. Pate RR, et al., *Physical activity and public health: a recommendation from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American College of Sports Medicine.* Jama, 1995. **273**(5): p. 402-407.
- 121. Morris J and Hardman A, *Walking to Health*. Sports Medicine, 1997. **23**(5): p. 306-332.
- 122. Duncan GE, et al., *Prescribing exercise at varied levels of intensity and frequency: a randomized trial.* Archives of internal medicine, 2005. **165**(20): p. 2362.
- 123. Baker G, et al., *The effect of a pedometer-based community walking intervention "Walking for Wellbeing in the West" on physical activity levels and health outcomes: a 12-week randomized controlled trial.* International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 2008. **5**(1): p. 44.
- 124. Simonsick EM, et al., Just Get Out the Door! Importance of Walking Outside the Home for Maintaining Mobility: Findings from the Women's Health and Aging Study. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 2005. **53**(2): p. 198-203.
- 125. Eyler AA, et al., *The epidemiology of walking for physical activity in the United States.* Medicine and science in sports and exercise, 2003. **35**(9): p. 1529-1536.
- 126. Schnohr P, Scharling H, and Jensen JS, *Intensity versus duration of walking, impact on mortality: the Copenhagen City Heart Study*. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil, 2007. **14**(1): p. 72-78.

- 127. Swain DP and Franklin BA, *Comparison of cardioprotective benefits of vigorous versus moderate intensity aerobic exercise*. The American journal of cardiology, 2006. **97**(1): p. 141-147.
- 128. Murphy MH, et al., Accumulating brisk walking for fitness, cardiovascular risk, and psychological health. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 2002. 34(9): p. 1468-1474.
- 129. Giles-Corti B and Donovan RJ, *Relative influences of individual, social environmental, and physical environmental correlates of walking.* American journal of public health, 2003. **93**(9): p. 1583-1589.
- 130. King AC, Rejeski WJ, and Buchner DM, *Physical activity interventions targeting older adults: A critical review and recommendations.* American journal of preventive medicine, 1998. **15**(4): p. 316-333.
- 131. Taylor A, et al., *Physical activity and older adults: a review of health benefits and the effectiveness of interventions*. Journal of sports sciences, 2004. **22**(8): p. 703-725.
- 132. King A, et al., *Developing optimal exercise regimens for seniors: A clinical trial.* Ann Behav Med, 1997. **19**: p. S056.
- 133. Brownson RC, et al., *Reliability of information on physical activity and other chronic disease risk factors among US women aged 40 years or older*. American Journal of Epidemiology, 1999. **149**(4): p. 379-391.
- 134. Lombard DN, Lombard TN, and Winett RA, Walking to meet health guidelines: the effect of prompting frequency and prompt structure. Health Psychology, 1995.
 14(2): p. 164.
- 135. Dishman RK, *Motivating older adults to exercise*. Southern Medical Journal, 1994. **87**(5): p. S79.
- Ouellette MM, et al., *High-intensity resistance training improves muscle strength, self-reported function, and disability in long-term stroke survivors.* Stroke, 2004.
 35(6): p. 1404-1409.
- Hagerman FC, et al., *Effects of High-Intensity Resistance Training on Untrained Older Men. I. Strength, Cardiovascular, and Metabolic Responses.* The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 2000. 55(7): p. B336-B346.
- 138. Swartz AM, et al., *Increasing daily walking improves glucose tolerance in overweight women*. Preventive Medicine, 2003. **37**(4): p. 356-362.
- 139. Donnelly J, et al., *The effects of 18 months of intermittent vs. continuous exercise on aerobic capacity, body weight and composition, and metabolic fitness in*

previously sedentary, moderately obese females. International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders: journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity, 2000. **24**(5): p. 566-572.

- 140. Jakicic JM, et al., *Effects of intermittent exercise and use of home exercise equipment on adherence, weight loss, and fitness in overweight women: a randomized trial.* Jama, 1999. **282**(16): p. 1554-1560.
- Moreau KL, et al., *Increasing daily walking lowers blood pressure in postmenopausal women*. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 2001.
 33(11): p. 1825-1831.
- 142. Perri MG, et al., Adherence to exercise prescriptions: effects of prescribing moderate versus higher levels of intensity and frequency. Health Psychology, 2002. **21**(5): p. 452.
- 143. Rothstein JM, *On defining subjective and objective measurements*. Physical therapy, 1989. **69**(7): p. 577-579.
- 144. Bohannon RW, *Objective Measures*. Physical Therapy, 1989. **69**(7): p. 590-593.
- Jeans EA, et al., *Translation of exercise testing to exercise prescription using the Talk Test.* The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 2011. 25(3): p. 590-596.
- 146. Foster C, et al., *The Talk Test as a Marker of Exercise Training Intensity*. Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention, 2008. **28**(1): p. 24-30.
- 147. Persinger R, et al., *Consistency of the Talk Test for Exercise Prescription*. Medicine & Science in Sport & Exercise, 2004. 36(9): p. 1632-1636.
- 148. Borg GA, *Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion*. Med sci sports exerc, 1982.
 14(5): p. 377-381.
- 149. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, *Perceived Exertion (Borg Rating of Perceived Exertion Scale)*. Accessed December 9, 2014; Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/everyone/measuring/exertion.html.
- 150. Parise C, et al., *Brisk walking speed in older adults who walk for exercise*. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 2004. **52**(3): p. 411-416.
- 151. Ayabe M, et al., *Minute-by-minute stepping rate of daily physical activity in normal and overweight/obese adults*. Obesity research & clinical practice, 2011.
 5(2): p. e151-e156.
- 152. Beets MW, et al., *Adjusting step count recommendations for anthropometric variations in leg length.* Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 2010. **13**(5): p. 509-512.

- 153. Jette M, Sidney K, and Blümchen G, *Metabolic equivalents (METS) in exercise testing, exercise prescription, and evaluation of functional capacity.* Clinical cardiology, 1990. **13**(8): p. 555-565.
- Achten J and Jeukendrup AE, *Heart rate monitoring*. Sports medicine, 2003.
 33(7): p. 517-538.
- 155. Head A, *Exercise metabolism and* β *-blocker therapy*. Sports Medicine, 1999. **27**(2): p. 81-96.
- 156. Dauncey M and James W, *Assessment of the heart-rate method for determining energy expenditure in man, using a whole-body calorimeter*. British Journal of Nutrition, 1979. **42**(01): p. 1-13.
- 157. Peterson MJ, Pieper CF, and Morey MC, *Accuracy of VO2 (max) prediction equations in older adults.* Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 2003(35): p. 145-149.
- 158. Day JR, et al., *The maximally attainable Vo2 during exercise in humans: the peak vs. maximum issue.* Journal of applied physiology, 2003. 95(5): p. 1901-1907.
- Greiwe JS, et al., Evaluation of the ACSM submaximal ergometer test for estimating VO2max. Medicine and science in sports and exercise, 1995. 27(9): p. 1315-1320.
- Tudor-Locke C and Lutes L, Why Do Pedometers Work? Sports Medicine, 2009.
 39(12): p. 981-993.
- 161. Tudor-Locke C, *Taking Steps toward Increased Physical Activity: Using Pedometers To Measure and Motivate.* President's Council on Physical Fitness and Sports Research Digest, 2002.
- 162. Bravata DM, et al., *Using pedometers to increase physical activity and improve health: a systematic review.* Jama, 2007. **298**(19): p. 2296-2304.
- 163. Welk GJ, et al., *The utility of the Digi-walker step counter to assess daily physical activity patterns*. Medicine and science in sports and exercise, 2000. 32(9 Suppl): p. S481-S488.
- 164. Choi BC, Pak AW, and Choi JC, *Daily step goal of 10,000 steps: a literature review.* Clinical & Investigative Medicine, 2007. **30**(3): p. E146-E151.
- 165. Choi BC, et al., Achieving the daily step goal of 10,000 steps: The experience of a Canadian family attached to pedometers. Clinical & Investigative Medicine, 2007. 30(3): p. E108-E113.

- Le Masurier GC, Lee SM, and Tudor-Locke C, *Motion sensor accuracy under controlled and free-living conditions*. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 2004. 36(5): p. 905-910.
- 168. Le-Masurier GC, Sidman CL, and Corbin CB, *Accumulating 10,000 steps: does this meet current physical activity guidelines?* Research quarterly for exercise and sport, 2003. **74**(4): p. 389-394.
- 169. Wilde BE, Sidman CL, and Corbin CB, A 10,000-step count as a physical activity target for sedentary women. Research quarterly for exercise and sport, 2001.
 72(4): p. 411-414.
- 170. Tudor-Locke C and Myers AM, *Methodological considerations for researchers and practitioners using pedometers to measure physical (ambulatory) activity.* Res Q Exerc Sport, 2001. **72**(1): p. 1-12.
- 171. Nagasaki H, et al., *Walking patterns and finger rhythm of older adults*. Perceptual and motor skills, 1996. **82**(2): p. 435-447.
- 172. Fitzsimons CF, et al., *Responses to walking-speed instructions: Implications for health promotion for older adults.* J Aging Phys Act, 2005. **13**(2): p. 172-183.
- 173. Murtagh EM, Boreham CA, and Murphy MH, *Speed and exercise intensity of recreational walkers*. Preventive medicine, 2002. **35**(4): p. 397-400.
- 174. Tudor-Locke C, et al., WalkMore: a randomized controlled trial of pedometerbased interventions differing on intensity messages. BMC public health, 2014.
 14(1): p. 168.
- 175. Hooker SP, et al., *Validation of the actical activity monitor in middle-aged and older adults*. Journal of Physical activity and Health, 2011. **8**(3): p. 372.
- 176. Evenson KR and Terry Jr JW, *Assessment of differing definitions of accelerometer nonwear time*. Research quarterly for exercise and sport, 2009. **80**(2): p. 355-362.
- 177. Colley RC and Tremblay MS, *Moderate and vigorous physical activity intensity cut-points for the Actical accelerometer*. Journal of sports sciences, 2011. 29(8): p. 783-789.
- 178. Gorman E, et al., *Accelerometry analysis of physical activity and sedentary behavior in older adults: a systematic review and data analysis.* European Review of Aging and Physical Activity, 2014. **11**(1): p. 35-49.

- 179. Loprinzi PD, et al., *The relationship of actigraph accelerometer cut-points for estimating physical activity with selected health outcomes: results from NHANES* 2003–06. Research quarterly for exercise and sport, 2012. **83**(3): p. 422-430.
- 180. Copeland JL and Esliger DW, Accelerometer assessment of physical activity in active, healthy older adults. 2009.
- 181. Lee LL, Arthur A, and Avis M, *Using self-efficacy theory to develop interventions that help older people overcome psychological barriers to physical activity: A discussion paper.* International Journal of Nursing Studies, 2008. **45**(11): p. 1690-1699.
- 182. Lee LL, Avis M, and Arthur A, *The role of self-efficacy in older people's decisions to initiate and maintain regular walking as exercise Findings from a qualitative study.* Preventive Medicine, 2007. **45**(1): p. 62-65.
- McLaughlin J, et al., Validation of the COSMED K4 b< SUP> 2</SUP> Portable Metabolic System. International journal of sports medicine, 2001. 22(04): p. 280-284.
- 184. Hoyle DA, Latour M, and Bohannon RW, *Intraexaminer, Interexaminer, and Interdevice Comparability of Leg Length Measurements Obtained with Measuring Tape and Metrecom.* Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy, 1991.
 14(6): p. 263-268.
- Rikli RE and Jones CJ, *Development and validation of a functional fitness test for community-residing older adults*. Journal of aging and physical activity, 1999. 7: p. 129-161.
- 186. Springer BA, et al., *Normative values for the unipedal stance test with eyes open and closed.* Journal of geriatric physical therapy, 2007. **30**(1): p. 8-15.
- Hurvitz EA, et al., Unipedal stance testing as an indicator of fall risk among older outpatients. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 2000. 81(5): p. 587-591.
- 188. Doherty M, Nobbs L, and Noakes T, *Low frequency of the*" *plateau phenomenon*" *during maximal exercise in elite British athletes*. European journal of applied physiology, 2003. **89**(6): p. 619-623.
- 189. CSEP. *CSEP-CEP Scope of Practice*. Accessed April 2, 2014; Available from: http://www.csep.ca/english/view.asp?x=747.
- 190. Cerin E, et al., Cross-validation of the factorial structure of the Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale (NEWS) and its abbreviated form (NEWS-A). International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 2009. 6(1): p. 32.

- 191. Winnipeg Weather. Winnipeg Weather over the last 2 weeks (daily data). Accessed June 4th, 2014; Available from: http://winnipeg.weatherstats.ca/periods/2weeks.html.
- 192. Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety. *Humidex rating and work*. Accessed June 10, 2014; Available from: http://www.ccohs.ca/oshanswers/phys_agents/humidex.html.
- 193. Elliott AC and Woodward WA, *Statistical analysis quick reference guidebook: With SPSS examples.* 2007: Sage.
- 194. Macmillan F, et al., West End Walkers 65+: a randomised controlled trial of a primary care-based walking intervention for older adults: study rationale and design. BMC Public Health, 2011. **11**: p. 120.
- 195. Foster C, et al., *Interventions for promoting physical activity*. Cochrane database of systematic Reviews, 2005. **1**.
- 196. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, *Healthy Weight it's not a diet, it's a lifestyle*. Accessed January 12, 2014; Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/adult_bmi/.
- 197. Schuna Jr JM, et al., *Steps per day, peak cadence, body mass index, and age in community-dwelling older adults.* Medicine and science in sports and exercise, 2013. **45**(5): p. 914-919.
- 198. Tudor-Locke C, et al., *Accelerometer steps/day translation of moderate-tovigorous activity*. Prev Med, 2011. **53**(1-2): p. 31-33.
- 199. Harris T, et al., Randomised controlled trial of a complex intervention by primary care nurses to increase walking in patients aged 60–74 years: protocol of the PACE-Lift (Pedometer Accelerometer Consultation Evaluation-Lift) trial. BMC public health, 2013. 13(1): p. 5.
- Baker G, Mutrie N, and Lowry R, Using pedometers as motivational tools: Are goals set in steps more effective than goals set in minutes for increasing walking? International Journal of Health Promotion and Education, 2008. 46(1): p. 21-26.
- 201. Clemes SA and Parker RA, *Increasing our understanding of reactivity to pedometers in adults*. 2009. **41**(3); p. 674-680.
- 202. Marshall AL, *Should all steps count when using a pedometer as a measure of physical activity in older adults?* Journal of Physical Activity and Health (JPAH), 2007. **4**(3): p. 305-314.

- 203. Barreira T, et al., *Pattern changes in step count accumulation and peak cadence due to a physical activity intervention*. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 2015.
- 204. Rice KR, et al., *Effects of 2 brief interventions on women's understanding of moderate-intensity physical activity*. Journal of physical activity & health, 2008.
 5(1): p. 58.
- 205. Kohrt WM, et al., *Effects of gender, age, and fitness level on response of VO2max to training in 60-71 yr olds.* Journal of Applied Physiology, 1991. **71**(5): p. 2004-2011.
- 206. Chwalbinska-Moneta J, et al., *EARLY EFFECTS OF SHORT-TERM ENDURANCE TRAINING*. Journal of physiology and pharmacology, 2005. **56**(1): p. 87-99.
- 207. Perera S, et al., *Meaningful Change and Responsiveness in Common Physical Performance Measures in Older Adults.* Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 2006. **54**(5): p. 743-749.
- 208. Posner J, et al., *Low to moderate intensity endurance training in healthy older adults: physiological responses after four months.* Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 1992. **40**(1): p. 1-7.
- 209. Probart C, et al., *The effect of moderate aerobic exercise on physical fitness among women 70 years and older*. Maturitas, 1991. **14**(1): p. 49-56.
- 210. Steinhaus L, et al., *Aerobic capacity of older adults: a training study*. The Journal of sports medicine and physical fitness, 1990. **30**(2): p. 163-172.
- 211. Huang G, et al., *Controlled Endurance Exercise Training and VO2max Changes in Older Adults: A Meta - Analysis.* Preventive cardiology, 2005. **8**(4): p. 217-225.
- 212. Cooper Institute for Aerobics Research, *The fitness specialists certification manual*. 2005.
- 213. Martin KA, et al., Who Will Adhere? Key Issues in the Study and Prediction of Adherence in Randomized Controlled Trials. Controlled Clinical Trials, 2000.
 21(5, Supplement 1): p. S195-S199.
- 214. Statistics Canada. *Health at a Glance Injuries in Canada: Insights from the Canadian Community Health Survey, 2011.* Accessed March 30, 2015; Available from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-624-x/2011001/article/11506-eng.htm.
- 215. Warburton D, et al., *A systematic review of the evidence for Canada's Physical Activity Guidelines for Adults.* Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act, 2010. **7**(1): p. 39.

- 216. Winkleby MA, et al., *Socioeconomic status and health: how education, income, and occupation contribute to risk factors for cardiovascular disease.* American journal of public health, 1992. **82**(6): p. 816-820.
- 217. Winkleby MA, Fortmann SP, and Barrett DC, *Social class disparities in risk factors for disease: Eight-year prevalence patterns by level of education.* Preventive Medicine, 1990. **19**(1): p. 1-12.
- 218. Population Reference Bureau, *Today's Research on Aging: Volunteering and Health for Aging Populations*, Program and Policy Implications, 2011. Accessed June 24, 2015; Available from http://www.prb.org/pdf11/TodaysResearchAging21.pdf.

Appendix A: Advertisement

Research Study



OF MANITOBA

Are you walking fast enough to optimize your health?



Are you older than 65 years old and interested in taking part in a walking program as part of a research study?

We want to help you get active and successfully reach the Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines

- · Meet with exercise professionals for free
- · Get a fitness and health assessment for free
- Increase your physical activity level

You are eligible if:

- · 65 years or older
- · Agree to increase physical activity
- Doing less than 150 minutes of organized exercise per week

Interested?

Contact Jana Slaght

204-474-7878 or slaghtj@myumanitoba.ca

The Education/Nursing Research Ethics Board, University of Manitoba, has approved this research. If you have any concerns or complaints about this project you may contact the Human Ethics Coordinator (HEC), Margaret Bowman at 204-474-7122, or margaret.bowman@umanitoba.ca.

_ _

Appendix B: Personal Feedback





Personal Measures

Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines – Walking Intervention Summary of Results

Hello_____

Thank you again for participating in our study! Your contribution is greatly appreciated and highly valuable to the overall findings. You will receive information on the results on the study as soon as they are available. The following document consists of your personal results.

On the following page you will find the current Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines as set out by the Canadian Society of Exercise Physiology. You will notice that they encourage people to participate in aerobic exercise at a 'moderate to vigorous' level of intensity, to determine your moderate intensity we measured your maximal oxygen consumption during the treadmill test. After measuring your maximal oxygen consumption we were able to calculate 40% of this and determine the number of steps per minute (cadence) you need to take in order to reach moderate intensity.

Based on your results, in order to reach:

- Moderate intensity when you walk, your cadence should be _____
- Vigorous intensity when you walk, your cadence should be _____

On behalf of everyone involved in the study, I would like to thank you once again for choosing to participate. Hopefully you are able to take the following information and continue reaching the Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines. If you have any concerns with your personal measures, please contact your family doctor. For any questions directly involved with the study, contact myself at (204) 474-7878, or slaghtj@myumanitoba.ca.

Sincerely, Jana Slaght

Height (m):		Blood Pressure (mmH	Hg):
Weight (kg):		Optimal blood pressure	e is below 120/80 mmHg to avoid
Start:	End:	heart diseases. It's imp your blood pressure at	ortant to note that we only measured one point in time. You might want to
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²):	take it several times in	a week to see a more accurate,
Start:	End:	consistent pattern.	
The optimal BMI is avoid health related Waist circumferen Start: To maintain a low r waist circumference cm for women and I men. Body Fat Percenta Start: A range of 10-22% women is considere	between 18.5 and 25.0 to conditions. ce (cm): End: isk of poor health, your should be lower than 88 ower than 102 cm for ge: End: for men and 20-32% for d as satisfactory for health.	Heart Rate at Rest (b The lower is the better times in a minute to de for an adult is 73 bpm. Maximum VO ₂ : Week 6: Maximum VO ₂ reflects blood can deliver oxyg exercise. A good VO ₂ men's is 31-38. ** Should you have an information, please con	as the heart will need to pump fewer diver the required blood. The average Week 12: s the capacity of the heart, lungs and gen to the working muscles during max score for women is 27-31 while by concerns regarding any of the nsult your doctor.

Personal results throughout the study compared to the norm within	n age range.
---	--------------

2	Norms (age)	Baseline Data	6 Week Data	12 Week Data
6 min Walk (m)				
30 sec Chair stand (reps)				
30 sec Arm curl (reps)				
Chair sit & reach (cm)				
Back scratch (cm)				
8 foot up and go (sec)				
Single leg balance: eyes open (sec)				
Single leg balance: eyes closed (sec)				

Appendix C: Phase 1 activity tracker

Please record the time you spend active every day.

There is room for you to record up to three activities each day. This does not mean you need to do exactly three, you can do more or less, just record the activity you do, and remember you are trying to walk 150 minutes per week.

Please record your activity in the correct week. There are six weeks to record activity. Week one starts when you have your first scheduled walk at the University of Manitoba.

Thank you for your participation! Have fun walking!

Activity Tracker - Phase 1



Contact Jana Slaght with any questions slaghtj@myumanitoba.ca

204-474-7878

• •
×
Φ
Û
>
>

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3
	DAY	£	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	7	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY		
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	4	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	5	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	9	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	7	
Name of activity			
Duration			

Τ

Week 6:

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3
	DAY	1	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	2	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY		
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	4	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	5	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	6	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	7	
Name of activity			
Duration			

3
×
Φ
C
<
\geq

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3
	DAY	1	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	2	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY		
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	4	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	5	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	9	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY .	7	
Name of activity			
Duration			

Week 4:

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3
	DAY	1	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY :	2	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY :	3	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY 4	4	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY (5	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	6	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	7	
Name of activity			
Duration			

5:
×
Ð
C
3

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3
	DAY	-	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	8	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY		
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	4	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	5	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	9	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	7	
Name of activity			
Duration			

Week 2:

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3
	DAY	7	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	3	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	e	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	4	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	5	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	9	
Name of activity			
Duration			
	DAY	7	
Name of activity			
Duration			

Appendix D: Phase 2 activity tracker (Group two)

Please record the time you spend active every day.

The activity tracker is the same as the last 6 weeks.

Please record your activity in the correct week. There are six weeks to record activity. Week one starts when you have your first scheduled walk at the University of Manitoba for phase 2.

Thank you for your participation! Have fun walking!

Activity Tracker - Phase 2



Contact Jana Slaght with any questions slaghtj@myumanitoba.ca

204-474-7878

~
×
Φ
Ū
<

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3	Total Time	
		DAY 1			
Name of activity					Name of act
Duration					Duration
		DAY 2			
Name of activity					Name of act
Duration					Duration
		DAY 3			
Name of activity					Name of act
Duration					Duration
		DAY 4			
Name of activity					Name of act
Duration					Duration
		DAY 5			
Name of activity					Name of act
Duration					Duration
		DAY 6			
Name of activity					Name of act
Duration					Duration
		DAY 7			
Name of activity					Name of act
Duration					Duration

Week 6:

Total Time		Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3	Total Time
			DAY 1		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				
			DAY 2		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				
			DAY 3		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				
			DAY 4		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				
			DAY 5		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				
			DAY 6		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				
			DAY 7		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				

(2
	U
	U

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3	Total Time	
		DAY 1			
Name of activity					Name of active
Duration					Duration
		DAY 2			
Name of activity					Name of acti
Duration					Duration
		DAY 3			
Name of activity					Name of acti
Duration					Duration
		DAY 4			
Name of activity					Name of acti
Duration					Duration
		DAY 5			
Name of activity					Name of acti
Duration					Duration
		DAY 6			
Name of activity					Name of active
Duration					Duration
		DAY 7			
Name of activity					Name of acti
Duration					Duration

Week 4:

otal Time		Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3	Total Time
			DAY 1		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				
			DAY 2		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				
			DAY 3		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				
			DAY 4		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				
			DAY 5		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				
			DAY 6		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				
			DAY 7		
	Name of activity				
	Duration				

S
×
0
U
>
\leq

		Name of activity	Duration																		
Total Time																					
Activity 3																					
Activity 2	DAY 1			DAY 2			DAY 3			DAY 4			DAY 5			DAY 6			DAY 7		
Activity 1																					
		Name of activity	Duration																		

Week 2:

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3	Total Time
		DAY 1		
ame of activity				
uration				
		DAY 2		
ame of activity				
uration				
		DAY 3		
ame of activity				
uration				
		DAY 4		
ame of activity				
uration				
		DAY 5		
ame of activity				
uration				
		DAY 6		
ame of activity				
uration				
		DAY 7		
ame of activity				
uration				

Appendix E: Phase 2 activity tracker (Group one)

Please record the time you spend active every day.

The first part of the tracker is the same as the last 6 weeks, but there are also two additional columns.

Please record your total time spent at moderate to vigorous physical activity every day. This is from your pedometer. It is shown in Hours:Minutes:Seconds. Also record the number beside the star on your pedometer screen which indicates the number of 10 minute bouts of MVPA you have done each day. Please record your activity in the correct week. There are six weeks to record activity. Week one starts when you have your first scheduled walk at the University of Manitoba for phase 2.

Thank you for your participation! Have fun walking!

Activity Tracker - Phase 2 Cadence



Contact Jana Slaght with any questions

slaghtj@myumanitoba.ca

204-474-7878

Week 1:

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3	Time spent in MVPA	Number of stars	
		Ď	AY 1			
Activity						Acti
Duration						Dur
		Ď	AY 2			
Activity						Acti
Duration						Dur
		Ď	AY 3			
Activity						Acti
Duration						Dur
		Ď	AY 4			
Activity						Acti
Duration						Dur
		D,	AY 5			
Activity						Acti
Duration						Dur
		D,	AY 6			
Activity						Acti
Duration						Dur
		D,	AY 7			
Activity						Acti
Duration						Dur

Week 6:

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3	Time spent in MVPA	Number of stars
		D	AY 1		
Activity					
Duration					
			AY 2		
Activity					
Duration					
			AY 3		
Activity					
Duration					
		D	AY 4		
Activity					
Duration					
		D	AY 5		
Activity					
Duration					
		Ō	AY 6		
Activity					
Duration					
		D	AY 7		
Activity					
Duration					

Week 3:

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3	Time spent in MVPA	σΓ
		D	AY 1		
Activity					
Juration					
			AY 2		
Activity					
Juration					
		Δ	AY 3		
Activity					
Juration					
		Δ	AY 4		
Activity					
Juration					
		D	AY 5		
Activity					
Juration					
		D	AY 6		
Activity					
Juration					
		D	AY 7		
Activity					
Juration					

Week 4:

Г

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3	Time spent in MVPA	Number of stars
		Ď	AY 1		
Activity					
Duration					
			AY 2		
Activity					
Duration					
			AY 3		
Activity					
Duration					
			AY 4		
Activity					
Duration					
			AY 5		
Activity					
Duration					
			AY 6		
Activity					
Duration					
		D,	AY 7		
Activity					
Duration					

Week 5:

	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3	Time spent in MVPA	Number of stars
		Ō	AY 1		
Activity					
Duration					
			AY 2		
Activity					
Duration					
		Ō	AY 3		
Activity					
Duration					
			AY 4		
Activity					
Duration					
		D	AY 5		
Activity					
Duration					
		Ō	AY 6		
Activity					
Duration					
		D	AY 7		
Activity					
Duration					

Week 2:

	i				
	Activity 1	Activity 2	Activity 3	Time spent in MVPA	Number of stars
		D	AY 1		
Activity					
Duration					
			AY 2		
Activity					
Duration					
			AY 3		
Activity					
Duration					
		D	AY 4		
Activity					
Duration					
		D	AY 5		
Activity					
Duration					
		D	AY 6		
Activity					
Duration					
		D	AY 7		
Activity					
Duration					

Appendix F: Informed Consent

oversight responsibilities for the study. For example, the University of Manitoba may look at the research records to ensure that the research is being done in a safe and proper way.

Feedback: The main results of the study and your personal results will be sent to you if you sign the feed-back form at the end of this document. If after receiving this information you have questions, a phone number and an email will be provided in order to individually discuss your results with the primary investigator, Danielle Bouchard.

Costs: All research-related procedures performed as part of this study will be provided at no cost to you.

<u>Compensation</u>: After visit 15, you will receive \$35 compensation to cover your parking fees. Costs required to obtain physicians clearance to begin exercise will be covered.

<u>Alternative:</u> You do not have to participate in this study to start engaging in physical activity, or to learn how to adequately reach the Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines.

Voluntary Participation/Withdrawal from the Study: Your decision to take part in this study is voluntary. You may refuse to participate, or you may withdraw from the study at any time. To withdraw you only have to give notification to the research assistant, Jana Slaght, by phone (204) 474-7878 or by email at slaghtj@myumanitoba.ca. She will then communicate the information to all research staff by email. At this time, all data collected before your withdrawal will be destroyed unless you agree to let the research team to use this information. You are not waiving any of your legal rights by signing this consent form or releasing the research team from their legal and professional responsibilities.

Questions: You are free to ask any questions that you may have about your treatment and your rights as a research participant. If any questions come up during or after the study, contact the primary investigator of this study, Dr. Danielle Bouchard by phone (204) 474-8627 or by email at danielle bouchard@umanitoba.ca.

Do not sign this form unless you have had the chance to ask questions and have received satisfactory answers to all of your questions.

Statement of Consent:

Your signature on this form indicates that you have understood to your satisfaction the information regarding participation in the research project and agree to participate as a subject. In no way does this waive your legal rights nor release the researchers, sponsors, or involved institutions from their legal and professional responsibilities. You are free to withdraw from this study at any time, and/or refrain from answering any questions you prefer to omit, without prejudice or consequence. Your continued participation should be as informed as your initial consent, so you should feel free to ask for clarification or new information throughout your participation.

Page 4 of 5 Version date: April 29, 2014

Page 2 of 5 Version date: April 29, 2014

Page 1 of 5 Version date: April 29, 2014 Initials

Initials

131

Initials

The University of Manitoba may look at your research records to see that the research is being done in a safe and proper way.

This research has been approved by the Education/Nursing Research Ethics Board, University of Manitoba. If you have any concerns or complaints about this project you may contact any of the above-named persons or the Human Ethics Coordinator (HEC), Margaret Bowman at (204) 474-7122, or margaret.bowman@umanitoba.ca. A copy of this consent form has been given to you to keep for your records and reference.

Participant signature	D ate

Research and/or Delegate's signature: _____ D ate_____

Page **5** of **5** Version date: April 29, 2014

Initials_